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KEY FIGURES

KEY FIGURES
EARNINGS

UNIT

2019

2018

CHANGE IN %

Revenue

EUR Million

58.8

52.7

11.6

Operating earnings*

EUR Million

4.0

3.8

5.3

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

EUR Million

3.5

6.1

-42.6

Earnings after taxes (EAT)

EUR Million

1.7

6.4

-73.4

SHARE

UNIT

2019

2018

CHANGE IN EUR

Earnings per share (undiluted)

EUR

0.05

0.19

-0.14

Earnings per share (diluted)

EUR

0.05

0.19

-0.14

BALANCE SHEET

UNIT

31/12/19

31.12.18

CHANGE IN %

Total equity and liabilities

EUR Million

148.7

103.4

43.8

Equity

EUR Million

68.7

51.1

34.4

%

46.2

49.4

-3.2 percentage points

UNIT

2019

2018

CHANGE IN %

Full-time equivalent

103

165

-37.6

EUR Million

10.4

15.3

-32.0

%

17.7

29.0

-11.3 percentage points

* On the basis of commercial criteria

Equity ratio

EMPLOYEES
Average employee capacity
Personnel expenses
Personnel expense ratio
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AT A
GLANCE
5,400
Shareholders
as at 31/12/2019

32,434,030
Shares

71
Vessels under management
(thereof 28 significant stakes)

103.9

EUR
MLN.

Ship investments

8,067

USD /
DAY

Average daily
charter rate ER fleet

594,901

DWT

capacity ER fleet

38,424

TEU

Container capacity
ER fleet
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1893
Foundation of historic
shipping company
Ernst Russ

2005
Publicly listed
(Deutsche Börse AG
in Frankfurt and
Mittelstandsbörse
in Hamburg)

2017
Listing in Scale segment
at Frankfurt
Stock Exchange

81
46.2 %
Equity ratio
as at 31/12/2019

58.8

Employees as at
31/12/2019
(full time equivalent)

EUR
MLN.

Revenues
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HIGHLIGHTS
2019 / BEGINNING OF 2020

FEBRUARY 2019
Sale of Solar Division
 ale of 3 subsidiaries and a fund- and assetmanagement
S
contract of the Solar Devision

FEBRUARY 2019
Sale of shares in HAMMONIA Reederei
	ER sells its shares
to scandinavian family office

handshake
JUNE 2019
JUNE 2019
Sale of Investor Management
 ale of 29 fiduciary and
S
sales companies
	Reduction of complexity of
the organizational structure
	Reduction of personnel
and material costs

6

Acquisition of majority interest in ship portfolio
 ortfolio comprises of a handysize bulker
P
and a 3,100 TEU containership
ER group as a co-investor
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HIGHLIGHTS 2019

OCTOBER 2019
Acquisition of a feeder containership
700 TEU containership built in 2007
	In cooperation with a
strategic partner

DECEMBER 2019
Equity conference in Munich
	First-time participation of Ernst Russ AG at
Münchner Kapitalmarktkonferenz (MKK)

OCTOBER 2019
Successful sale of an
office and warehouse
property in Essen
 uilding complex of
B
about 15,600 sqm
 ositive effect on
P
liquidity and
earnings position
of the ER group

MARCH / APRIL 2020
Sale of ‘Housing’
Department
	Successful sale of
two housing projects
in Pinneberg
and Bad Oldesloe

JULY 2019
Acquisition of further interests in ElbFeeder Portfolio
	Full consolidation of the ElbFeeder portfolio
as at 01/08/2019
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MANAGEMENT

TEAM

Our business activities focus on
ship investments. As a major listed
company in the international shipping
industry, we regularly expand our
existing fleet and secure stable and
sustainable earnings and added
value for investors and shareholders.
We are also active in fund and asset
management, particularly in the asset
classes, Shipping, Real Estate and
Alternative Investments.

THOMAS DEUTSCH
Head of Finance
Thomas Deutsch has held an executive position in the Ernst Russ Group for 12 years. As
business director, he is responsible for the
areas of accounting, tax, controlling, IT, business development and investor relations. As
authorised signatory and member of the
management team, he is involved in all the
Group’s operational and strategic decisions.
Before joining the Ernst Russ Group, Thomas
Deutsch worked at one of the large, international auditing firms for seven years after completing his studies in business administration.
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ROBERT GÄRTNER

KAI DÜHRKOP

CEO

Head of Maritime Investments

Robert Gärtner has been a member of the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG since March 2019.
He was a member of the Supervisory Board of
the company from June 2016 to February 2019.
As a trained industrial manager and financial
accountant, he has held numerous financial
management positions in both group and medium-sized companies over his 45-year career.
Robert Gärtner joined INTERSCHALT maritime
systems AG as a partner and member of the
Executive Board in 2006. He led the company
from supplying the ship-building industry to
becoming a leading provider of software and
services in the maritime industry.

Kai Dührkop joined the former HCI Capital AG in
2011 as trust company managing director. From
2015, in addition to managing the fund companies in the Ship segment, he was also responsible for setting up asset management for own
ship investments. Today, he is Head of Maritime
Investments and responsible for the entire Shipping segment of the Ernst Russ Group. Before
joining the Ernst Russ Group, Kai Dührkop, who
holds a degree in banking administration, held
management positions at various banks with
oversight of corporate clients and real estate
financing and responsibility for support services
to investment banks.
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INTRODUCTION BY THE
EXECUTIVE BOARD
Dear shareholders and
business partners of Ernst Russ AG,
We look back on an extremely eventful year
for Ernst Russ AG in which we successfully
completed strategically important projects
and at the same time further expanded our
position as a maritime asset and investment
manager as planned.
In February 2019 we sold our subsidiaries in
the Solar segment as they are no longer part
of the future core business of Ernst Russ AG.
The disposal of the Investor Management
segment and the sale of the central fiduciary
company, PECURA Anleger- und Treuhandservice GmbH, as well as other Group companies, allowed us to streamline the Group
structure considerably and significantly
reduce the Ernst Russ Group's liability risks
in June 2019.
In June 2019, we acquired a majority interest
in a shipping company and further expanded
the Ernst Russ fleet by adding a handymax
bulker and a 3,100 TEU container ship. In the
same month, we gained a further ship for our
fleet through the acquisition of 4,200 TEU
container ship. In October 2019, we expanded
the Ernst Russ Group fleet even further by
acquiring a feeder container ship together
with a strategic partner.
Further activity was recorded by the acquisition of additional shares in the ElbFeeder
joint-venture which holds ownership in seven
feeder container vessels. By this share purchase Ernst Russ AG now has the majority
shareholding and achieved the full consolidation of the ElbFeeder companies.
In total, the Ernst Russ Group now manages
a fleet of 71 vessels with a significant shareholding in 28 of these. With the aforementioned transactions the number of fully consolidated vessels increased from three to 14
within the reporting year.

10

Our goal remains to further develop our actitivities in the shippping segment, in particular to grow within the container, bulker and
tanker segment.
In pursuit of this maritime strategy, we disposed of the Residential Housing Projects
sub-segment from the Real Estate segment
at the beginning of the current financial year
2020.
In order to further finance this growth, we are
relying on a combination of existing equity,
reinvestments, retentions, strategic partners as well as bank financing. Alongside
this, we are examining the capital measures
that are open to a listed company. We pursue
a conservative, sustainable and successful
approach to investment. Besides our business activities in the Shipping segment, we
continue to be active in fund and asset management in the asset classes, Shipping, Real
Estate and Alternative Investments.
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Our business activities in the 2019 reporting
year produced the following result:
Positive pre tax earnings of EUR 3.5 million
were generated in the 2019 financial year
(previous year: EUR 6.1 million). Operating earnings (EBIT) of EUR 4.0 million were
slightly above the previous year’s level of
EUR 3.8 million. Revenue was up from EUR
52.7 million to EUR 58.8 million due to the
expansion of our fleet and the associated
increase in charter income. Our growth is
also reflected in the increase in total equity
and liabilities to EUR 148.7 million (previous
year: EUR 103.4 million). With equity of EUR
68.7 million (previous year: EUR 51.1 million),
the equity ratio was 46.2% (previous year:
49.4%).
By contrast, the development of our company’s share price in the 2019 reporting year
and in the first few months of 2020 was not
satisfactory. General uncertainties surround-

INTRODUCTION BY THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

ing the corona pandemic are currently reinforcing these trends further. Our aim remains
to permanently strenghten the value of the
share and thus, the investment in Ernst Russ.
We started to intensify our work in Investor
Relations last year and we will continue to
do so in 2020. Ernst Russ AG attended a capital market conference in the reporting year
to increase the visibility of the share and will
continue to use suitable platforms on a regular basis in the future.
At the present time, the corona pandemic
is having a significant impact on our lives.
Combating the virus is a task for society as a
whole. We are assuming our share of responsibility by doing everything in our power to
protect our shareholders and business partners as well as our employees and to ensure
that our company remains fully functional
and successful.
I would like to thank all the employees of the
Ernst Russ Group and the members of the
Supervisory Board. I would also like to thank
you, our shareholders, for the confidence you
have placed in us.

With very best wishes – stay healthy!

Robert Gärtner
CEO of Ernst Russ AG
Hamburg, April 2020
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SUPERVISORY BOARD
REPORT

The Supervisory Board of Ernst Russ AG consists of Alexander Stuhlmann and the following
individuals:

JOCHEN THOMAS DÖHLE
Shipping merchant, Hamburg

ROBERT LORENZ-MEYER
Businessman, Hamburg

INGO KUHLMANN
Tax consultant, Sittensen

Udo Bandow also supports the
Supervisory Board and the Executive
Board in an advisory capacity:

UDO BANDOW
Honorary Chairman of the Supervisory Board

12
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SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT

ALEXANDER STUHLMANN
Chairman of the Supervisory Board;
Management Consultant, Hamburg

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board worked
closely and positively together in the 2019 financial
year. The Executive Board informed the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board regularly and without delay about all
matters of considerable significance. The Supervisory
Board and the Executive Board were also in close contact outside their meetings to ensure that information
and opinions were exchanged on a continuous basis. The
Supervisory Board performed the supervisory and advisory duties incumbent upon it according to statute, the
company's Articles of Association and rules of procedure carefully and conscientiously.
In the 2019 financial year, Robert Gärtner stepped down
from his position on the Supervisory Board and joined
the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG on 1 March 2019.
Ingo Kuhlmann was elected to the Supervisory Board by
the Annual General Meeting on 24 June 2019. Together
with myself, Alexander Stuhlmann, as Chairman, Jochen
Thomas Döhle as Deputy Chairman and Supervisory

13

SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT

Ernst Russ AG

|

Annual Report 2019

Board members, Robert Lorenz-Meyer and Ingo Kuhlmann, we collectively constitute the Supervisory Board
of Ernst Russ AG. As its honorary Chairman, Udo Bandow
also supports the Supervisory Board and the Executive
Board in an advisory capacity.
In 2019, a total of six Supervisory Board meetings were
held where the members attended in person and one
was held by telephone. The attendance rate for these
Supervisory Board meetings was 96%. Key agenda items
at these meetings included:
 eporting on the audit of the 2018 annual and conR
solidated financial statements, a resolution on the
approval of the annual and consolidated financial
statements and an appraisal of the combined management report for Ernst Russ AG and the Group for
the 2018 financial year,
Discussion of quarterly figures and the 2019 HalfYear Report,
Risk management reporting,
Planning and corporate strategy.
The following specific topics were also discussed at the
individual meetings:
The meetings year began on 21 January 2019 with two
extraordinary Supervisory Board meetings. At midday,
the Supervisory Board members came together to dis- ration of the consolidated financial statements for the
cuss the forthcoming changes to the Executive Board. 2018 financial year. The focal points of the upcoming
The Supervisory Board agreed that the Executive Board audit of the consolidated financial statements were disof Ernst Russ AG should only consist of one person in cussed with the auditors KPMG AG.
future. The Supervisory Board therefore decided to
propose a corresponding amendment to the Articles of The Supervisory Board meeting held on 25 April 2019
Association to shareholders at the Annual General Meet- focussed on discussing and approving the 2018 coning in June. In the early evening, at a Supervisory Board solidated financial statements and adopting the 2018
meeting held by telephone, it was decided to appoint annual financial statements. The Executive Board report
former Supervisory Board member, Robert Gärtner, to on affiliated companies for the 2018 financial year was
the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG with effect from also presented to the Supervisory Board. The Executive
1 March 2019. To this end, Robert Gärtner resigned Board reported on current business development and in
from the Supervisory Board on 21 January 2019 effec- particular on the deliberations regarding the streamlintive from the end of 28 February 2019. The Supervisory ing of the Group under company law and the disposal of
Board also resolved in agreement with Executive Board the Investor Management segment (‘Luna’ project).
members, Jens Mahnke and Ingo Kuhlmann, that Jens
Mahnke would leave the company following the 2019 Ingo Kuhlmann attended the Supervisory Board meeting
Annual General Meeting and Ingo Kuhlmann would leave on 24 June 2019 for the first time as a newly elected
the company with effect from the end of 31 March 2019. member. The Executive Board reported on discussions
Jens Mahnke was a member of the Executive Board of regarding the acquisition of a further two percent of
Ernst Russ AG until 1 July 2019. The Supervisory Board shares in Elbfeeder Inc., with the aim of fully consoliwould like to take this opportunity to thank Jens Mahnke dating the seven container ships in this fleet. The financing of a further ship acquisition was also discussed. In
and Ingo Kuhlmann for their work.
addition, there was an exchange of views on the current
At the meeting held on 13 February 2019, the Supervi- status of the sales negotiations for the Group's directly
sory Board focussed on the main points for the prepa- held property at Schnieringshof in Essen.
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The auditors KPMG AG issued an unqualified audit certificate for the separate and consolidated financial statements of Ernst Russ AG as of 31 December 2019 and
the combined management report for Ernst Russ AG
and the Group for the 2019 financial year. The members
of the Supervisory Board looked closely at the audit
reports for the audit of the separate and consolidated
financial statements of Ernst Russ AG and the Executive
Board report on affiliated companies. The members of
the Supervisory Board also discussed the main topics
of the financial statements in detail at the Supervisory
Board meeting on 11 February 2020 and the financial
statements with the auditors at the Supervisory Board
meeting on 23 April 2020. The audit reports and documentation for the financial statements were made available to the Supervisory Board members in good time.
Having completed its own review, the Supervisory Board
expressly endorsed the auditor's findings on 23 April
2020 and approved the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report for Ernst
Russ AG and the Group for the 2019 financial year as
prepared by the Executive Board. The annual financial
At the meeting held on 12 September 2019, the Supervi- statements were thereby adopted.
sory Board was presented with the operating figures for
the first half of 2019. The financing structure for the Elb- The Supervisory Board would also like to thank the
Feeder fleet and the development of the Marvest crowd- members of the Executive Board as well as all employfunding platform were also discussed. Options for a ees for their tremendous commitment, personal contristrategic realignment of the Shipping segment were dis- butions and the constructive relationship in which we all
cussed in detail. Moreover, the Executive Board reported work for the good of the company.
on personnel changes in the Real Estate segment and
new rules of procedure for the Executive Board were
also unanimously approved.
Hamburg, 23 April 2020
In addition to the explanations on the assets, financial
position and earnings of the Ernst Russ Group in Q3 Alexander Stuhlmann
2019, the Executive Board also discussed the forthcoming capital market conference at the meeting held on Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Ernst Russ AG
3 December 2019. The current status of the tax audit
for 2009 to 2012 was also explained. The audit was
completed with a satisfactory result in December 2019.
In addition to the Executive Board's reporting on current projects, particularly in the Shipping segment, the
budget for the 2020 financial year was also outlined.
At the meeting held on 11 February 2020, the Supervisory Board focussed on the main points for the preparation and audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 2019 financial year. The focal points of
the upcoming audit of the separate and consolidated
financial statements were discussed with the auditors
KPMG AG.
In addition to the Supervisory Board meetings held, the
Supervisory Board passed nine resolutions in writing in
the 2019 financial year. The ship acquisitions that were
made and the implementation of the Luna project were
approved in this manner.
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BUSINESS MODEL
SHIPPING

As a major listed company in the international shipping
industry, we continuously expand our existing fleet
and secure stable and sustainable earnings and added
value for investors and shareholders.

2.
1.

BUSINESS MODEL

Shipping is traditionally one of the most important
modes of transport on both regional and global trade
routes. It will remain indispensable in the future as part
of the global infrastructure for functioning world trade.
Consequently, the choice to invest in a future-proof ship
is always a good decision for a long-term and sustainable investment in an indispensable economic asset.
The Shipping segment is the core area of the Ernst Russ
Group's business activities. The long-standing shipping
tradition of the group of companies dates back to 1893
when Hamburg-based businessman, Ernst Russ, first
established his shipping company. Today, Ernst Russ
considers itself an investor in future-proof and sustainable ship projects and aims to generate stable income
from the Shipping segment in the long term. Our access
to the capital market as a listed company gives us structured access to investment funds thus creating our base
for stable growth. In addition to our business activities
in the Shipping segment, we are also active in fund and
asset management in the asset classes, Shipping, Real
Estate and Alternative Investments.
The ER Group has an extremely well-trained and motivated team of capital market and financing specialists
who work in tandem with experienced employees from
the maritime sector.

16

INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY

Companies in the Ernst Russ Group have already realized over 500 ship investments for private investors
since 1985. In 2015, the company began gradually
building up its own portfolio, which today consists of
34 ships, from which steady income can be generated
through chartering and asset management. The Ernst
Russ Group will continue to focus on the expansion of
a recoverable and stable asset portfolio of ships in the
container, bulker and tanker classes.
Investment decisions at Ernst Russ follow clear and
exacting standards in the interests of sustained value
creation:
 long-term investment horizon is conducive to susA
tainable and stable generation of income from charter revenues
	Investments are made in consideration of economic,
social and environmental criteria
 igh investment security due to the long-term prosH
pects for use of the economic asset (ship)
 ound research, long-term analyses and risk assessS
ments form the basis for our investment decisions
	All ER Group activities serve to increase the value of
the company
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OUR SERVICES

As an asset and investment manager, Ernst Russ man- This also includes the examination and monitoring of all
ages and coordinates all the steps starting with the contracts and payment flows as well as real-time budget
identification and purchase of a suitable ship, the devel- control, which we can carry out through full, digital netopment of an employment strategy and selection of working of the individual ships and service providers
technical operator and crewing company, through to the with our IT systems. This direct access to details of
development and implementation of the disposal strat- the ship's operation at any time means we can ensure
timely and high-quality investor reporting. The following
egy together with selected brokerage companies.
pages provide an overview of our services in the ShipThe company regularly takes on the complete range of ping department..
commercial management of all ship investments itself.
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4.	OUR SERVICES AT A GLANCE:
ASSET AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

TRANSACTION TEAM

	A professional team provides support for the entire
term of the investment: initial, comprehensive due
diligence (legal, financial, commercial, technical) as
well as the acquisition and later the sale of the ship.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

Digitalised control and monitoring of all operating activities, such as operations, technical management, accounting, IT-supported cash flow and
liquidity planning.

ACCOUNTING

	Payment transactions, preparation
of financial statements, treasury.

FINANCING

Structuring and management
of financing through
equity and outside capital.

CONTROLLING AND RISK MANAGEMENT

 onitoring of budgets, quarterly
M
deviation analysis, stress testing.

18
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SUPERVISION OF SHIP OPERATIONS

CHARTERING

 onstant monitoring of the market and
C
employment of ships in line with strategy,
in close cooperation with market-leading
chartering companies.

OPERATIONS

Taking over communication between ship
and charterer guarantees smooth operation
of the ship and ‘first-hand’ information.

CREWING

	Development of crew
management strategies together
with leading crewing agencies.

SHIP OPERATIONS

Integrated support for ship operations
carried out by the assigned ship manager as well
as coordination of technical maintenance
measures and dry dock overhauls of the entire fleet.

INSURANCE

 hecking and monitoring of appropriate
C
insurance cover through to the independent
management of claims settlements.
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FLEET LIST
OWN SHIPS AND SIGNIFICANT
EQUITY INTERESTS
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NAME

SHIP TYPE

ENSIGN

HOME PORT

Venetia

Container

Portugal

Madeira

EF Olivia

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Hebe

Container

Liberia

Monrovia

Polonia

Container

Liberia

Monrovia

Rita

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Ella

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Winner

Container

Portugal

Madeira

EF Emira

Container

Marshall Islands

Majuro

EF Emma

Container

Portugal

Madeira

EF Eldra

Container

Marshall Islands

Majuro

EF Eliza

Container

Marshall Islands

Majuro

EF Elena

Container

Marshall Islands

Majuro

Andante

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Moveon

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Trouper

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Visitor

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Dance

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Dream

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Ido

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Meandi

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Mirror

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Music

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Solong

Container

Portugal

Madeira

EF Ava

Container

Portugal

Madeira

Skogafoss

Container

Antigua & Barbuda

St. Johns

Louise Auerbach

Multipurpose

Liberia

Monrovia

Louise Russ

Ro/Ro

Portugal

Madeira

Caroline Russ*

Ro/Ro

Portugal

Madeira

Elisabeth Russ*

Ro/Ro

Portugal

Madeira

Friedrich Russ*

Ro/Ro

Antigua & Barbuda

St. Johns

Pauline Russ*

Ro/Ro

Portugal

Madeira

Rubina

Bulker

Portugal

Madeira

Cape Tempest*

Tanker

Marshall Islands

Majuro

Cape Taura*

Tanker

Marshall Islands

Majuro

* Financial interest
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FLEET LIST

WIDTH IN M

DRAFT IN M

CONTAINER CAPACITY IN TEU

DEADWEIGHT TONNAGE (DWT)

267

32.2

12.5

4,178

52,788

220.31

32.24

12.15

3,091

42,200

220.4

32.2

12.17

3,091

42,213

220.3

32.24

12.15

3,091

42,200

207.3

32.24

12.15

2,785

37,213

199.96

32.26

11.25

2,450

33,216

186

27.6

11.3

1,819

28,220

183

25

10

1,710

24,150

183

25

10

1,700

24,100

163.3

25

9.5

1,341

17,127

163.3

25

9.5

1,341

17,127

161.3

25

9.5

1,338

17,350

133.95

22.5

8.7

868

11,433

133.95

22.5

8.7

868

11,382

134.44

22.5

8.7

868

11,404

134.44

22.5

8.7

862

11,181

137.76

21.7

7.2

822

8,800

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

140.64

21.8

7.33

804

9,350

129.59

20.6

7.4

698

8,168

129.7

20.6

7.4

679

8,200

138.1

21

8

0

12,500

172.9

25

6.84

0

9,090

153.38

20.6

6.99

0

7,097

153.4

20.6

6.99

0

7,296

153.4

20.6

6.99

0

7,291

153.42

20.6

6.99

0

7,096

179.95

32

10.52

0

39,959

228.6

32.26

12.2

0

73,000

228.6

32.26

12.2

0

73,000
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ERNST RUSS AG
SHARE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
PERFORMANCE OF THE SHARE IN 2019
The opening and closing price of the Ernst Russ share
in 2019 was EUR 0.78. The share price reached its low
of EUR 0.62 in February 2019 and its high of EUR 0.94
in March. The share price subsequently stabilised at
around EUR 0.80. In the first quarter, the international
share markets recorded dramatic collapses as a result
of the corona crisis. The Ernst Russ AG share price also
fell as result of this. In our opinion, this share price does
not reflect the actual value of Ernst Russ AG. It going

without saying that our aim is still to increase the value
of the share on a permanent basis and thus boost investment in Ernst Russ AG.
An average of 12,695 shares were traded every working
day, with an average daily trading volume of EUR 10,227.

CHANGES IN THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD OF ERNST RUSS AG
Former Supervisory Board member, Robert Gärtner,
was appointed to the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG
with effect from 1 March 2019. To this end, Mr Gärtner
resigned from the Supervisory Board on 21 January
2019 with effect from 28 February 2019.
Ingo Kuhlmann left the Executive Board of Ernst Russ
AG with effect from 31 March 2019. He was elected to
the Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meeting of
Ernst Russ AG on 24 June 2019.

The Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG now consists of
members, Alexander Stuhlmann (Chairman), Jochen
Thomas Döhle (Deputy Chairman), Ingo Kuhlmann and
Robert Lorenz Meyer.
Jens Mahnke left the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG
with effect from 1 July 2019. Consequently, Robert Gärtner is the only Executive Board member of Ernst Russ
AG.

PERFORMANCE OF THE ERNST RUSS SHARE (XETRA) OVER THE COURSE OF 2019 IN EUR
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SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE OF ERNST RUSS AG AS AT 31/12/2019

16.1%
Hamburg Commercial
Bank AG

38.2%
Döhle Group

9.1%
JaJo Beteiligungsgesellschaft
mbH & Co. KG

6.4%
MS ‘CORDULA’
Schiffahrtsgesellschaft
mbH & Co. KG

30.2%
Free float
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BASIC DATA FOR THE ERNST RUSS SHARE AS AT 31/12/2019
Share type

No-par registered shares (bearer shares)

Number of shares authorised for trading on a stock exchange

32,434,030

Market segment

Scale (Frankfurt Stock Exchange), Mittelstandsbörse
Deutschland (Hanseatic Stock Exchange Hamburg)

Exchanges

Frankfurt Stock Exchange,
Hanseatic Stock Exchange Hamburg

First day of trading / Issue price

6/10/2005 / EUR 20.50

ISIN

DE000A161077

WKN

A16107

Stock exchange code

HXCK

Reuters

HXCKk.DE

Bloomberg

HXCK:GR

Common code

022854488

Designated sponsor

ODDO SEYDLER BANK AG

BASIC DATA FOR THE ERNST RUSS SHARE
2019

2018

Number of shares as of 31/12/2019

32,434,030

32,434,030

Share capital as of 31/12/2019 in EUR

32,434,030

32,434,030

Closing price at year-end in EUR (Xetra)

0.78

0.80

High in EUR (Xetra)

0.94

1.68

Low in EUR (Xetra)

0.62

0.80

Market capitalisation as of 31/12/2019 in EUR million

25.3

25.9

Earnings per share (undiluted) in EUR

0.05

0.19

Earnings per share (diluted) in EUR

0.05

0.19

--

--

Dividend per share in EUR

CHANGES IN THE SCALE SEGMENT
Since 16 December 2019, the Scale segment has been particular to increase our attractiveness to international
part of what is known as the ‘SME growth market’. This investors.
is a new category of multi-lateral trading platforms in
Europe which are designed specifically for small and The Scale segment was introduced in 2017 – the aim
medium-sized enterprises (‘SME’ for short) and com- was to meet the requirements for supporting SMEs in
ply with EU-wide standards. The aims are to facilitate the European Union even then. Ernst Russ AG is a foundaccess to capital for SMEs and to increase the attractive- ing member of this segment.
ness of capital market financing. Registration serves in
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CAPITAL MARKET ACTIVITIES
Ernst Russ AG stepped up its investor relations work in the 2019 financial year. Ernst
Russ AG presented for the first time at the
Munich Capital Market Conference (MKK) in
December. Alongside a presentation of the
company by CEO Robert Gärtner, there were
various individual conversations with interested investors. Ernst Russ AG will present at
the MKK again in 2020 which will be held as
an online conference on this occasion. Furthermore, the initiation of equity research is also
in the planning stages.

CHANGES TO THE ARTICLES
OF ASSOCIATION
The minimum number of Executive Board members was reduced from two to one in a resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 24
June 2019. This change was proposed in response
to the reduced complexity as well as from a cost
viewpoint and provides the option of company representation by just one Board member.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR*

APRIL

JUNE

29

19

Attendance at the
29th MKK
(online conference)

Annual General Meeting
2020

SEPTEMBER

24.
Publication of
Half-Year Report

* Ernst Russ AG reserves the right to change or add dates where appropriate.
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(31 December 2018: EUR 2.91 billion). The change from
the previous year is essentially due to the disposal of the
Solar segment, the disposal of asset and fund management for Private Equity and Infrastructure funds as well
as the disposal of 20 fund ships under management. By
contrast, the number of shipping investments in which
the ER Group has a significant interest increased by five
ships compared with the previous year.

T his report is a condensed version

of the management reports for Ernst
Russ AG and the Ernst Russ Group
for the 2019 financial year.

1.1	FOUNDATIONS OF THE GROUP AND
ERNST RUSS AG
I.

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Operating activities were conducted in the Shipping,
Real Estate and Alternative Investments segments in
the 2019 reporting year. Management uses these segments to steer, plan and report on our Group – supplemented by the additional segments Investor Management (until May 2019) and Other Services.
In 2019, the ER Group successfully disposed of its business activities in the Investor Management and Solar
segments. The housing construction projects sub-segment of the Real Estate segment was also disposed of
at the beginning of 2020 (please refer in this context
to the following sections). These transactions enabled
the ER Group to create the essential conditions for
restructuring and focussing of its strategy on the Shipping segment and thereby establish a new, sustainable
and transparent business model. Going forward, the
ER Group will concentrate on the further expansion of
a recoverable and stable asset portfolio of ships in the
container, bulker and tanker classes, as well as on the
asset and investment management of ships. In addition
to our business activities in the Shipping segment, we
are also active in fund and asset management in the
asset classes, Shipping, Real Estate and Alternative
Investments.

Ernst Russ AG, based in Hamburg, is the management
holding company for the Ernst Russ Group (hereafter SHIPPING
‘ER Group’). Ernst Russ AG, whose place of business is
Elbchaussee 370, 22609 Hamburg, Germany is regis- The Shipping segment is the core area of the ER Group's
tered in the commercial register of the Hamburg District business activities. As one of the listed shipping industry
Court under HRB 93324. Together with its subsidiaries, companies in Germany we have steadily expanded our
Ernst Russ AG forms a service company, which oper- fleet. In the Shipping segment, the ER Group's business
ates mainly in Germany from its offices in Hamburg and activities focus on the structuring and asset manageCologne.
ment of investment vehicles for ships on its own behalf
and on behalf of third parties. Here, we concentrate on
Ernst Russ AG has been publicly listed since 2005 the container and bulker classes, with a view to addand since March 2017 in the ‘Scale’ listing segment of ing tankers to the portfolio at a later stage. Alongside
Deutsche Börse AG in Frankfurt and the Mittelstands- this, we also examine investment in other ship classes
in individual cases. The ER Group has very experienced
börse in Hamburg.
employees from the maritime sector, who work in tanAs of 31 December 2019, the ER Group managed assets dem with a motivated and extremely well trained team
with a total investment volume of around EUR 2.0 billion made up of capital market and financing specialists.

1) With the disposal of 29 Group companies and the consequent departure from the Investor Management segment, there was also a final move away from the former
issuing business and the associated original calculation of assets under management on the basis of managed equity and outside capital. The successful conversion into
an asset and investment manager means that assets under management will now be calculated based on a current valuation of the assets under management. The new
calculation system was applied for the first time on 30 June 2019. The previous year's disclosures were adjusted accordingly.
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Our involvement in a globally operating network of maritime services companies, carefully selected by us, enables us as an asset and investment manager for the
respective ship type, to provide high quality support
during the ongoing operation of the ship, both for thirdparty investments as well as for our own ships. This covers the complete range, starting from the identification
and purchase of a suitable ship, the development of an
employment strategy and selection of technical operator and crewing company, through to the development
and implementation of the right marketing strategy with
selected brokerage companies.

In the 2017 financial year, the ER Group structured and
established an investment vehicle (‘ElbFeeder’) for container ships in the 700 to 3,500 TEU classes together with
a strategic partner as part of a joint venture. This fleet
consisted of seven vessels as of the reporting date of 31
December 2019, which were financed by equity from the
founding partners and by outside capital. The ships were
acquired in 2017 and 2018. This ship portfolio has been
fully consolidated since July 2019. The seven ships thus
contribute to the ER Group's result and have a significant
impact on the assets, financial position and earnings.

In June 2019, we assumed the majority shareholding
The ER Group regularly takes on the complete range of in a shipping company consisting of a handymax bulker
commercial management itself. This also includes the and a 3,100 TEU container ship. The handysize bulker
examination and monitoring of all contracts and pay- was built in China in 2018, has a capacity of 38,000 DWT
ment flows as well as real-time budget control, which and is chartered until October 2020. The container ship
we can carry out through full, digital networking of the was built in Europe in 2008 and, following an investment
individual ships and services with our IT systems. This in energy-saving measures, is chartered on a long-term
direct access to details of the ship's operation at any basis until May 2022. Furthermore, in the same month
time means we can enable timely and high-quality inves- we acquired a 4,200 TEU container ship built in Taiwan in
2010, which is under long-term charter for three years.
tor reporting.
In October 2019, the ER Group's fleet was expanded
As of 31 December 2019, the ER Group managed a fleet again through the acquisition of a further feeder contotalling 71 container ships, tankers and bulker ships tainer ship under long-term charter. The 700 TEU conas well as other vessels. 43 of these vessels are fund tainer ship built in 2007 was acquired in cooperation
ships for which ER Group companies provide fund and with a strategic partner.
asset management or other services. The ER Group has
a significant interest in 28 other vessels, 14 of which are
consolidated into the ER Group. This investment portfo- Ship operations
lio mainly consists of container ships in the 700 to 4,250
TEU classes, plus a handysize bulker with a capacity of In 2019, ship operations were dominated by prepara38,000 DWT and a ro-ro ferry.
tions for the entry into force of the IMO 2020 regulations on reducing sulphur emissions. With effect from 1
The employment concept developed for the investment January 2020, ships worldwide are only allowed to use
fleet of 28 vessels is geared to the sustainable securing (bunker) fuel with a maximum sulphur content of 0.5%,
of income in the long term. Half of the ships generate rev- instead of the 3.5% heavy crude oil previously used,
enue from charter income pools, seven ships are char- which is on average around USD 200 to 300 per ton
tered over the medium to long-term and a further seven more expensive than fuel with a higher sulphur content.
ships are chartered for a period of up to twelve months.
From 1 March 2020, no bunker fuel with a sulphur content of more than 0.5% can be kept in tanks. Alternatively,
Of the 9,426 possible operating days, the ER Group fleet sulphur emissions can also be reduced through approwas operational on 9,342 days (99.1%). The technical priate exhaust gas purification systems (‘scrubbers’) and
downtime of 0.9% was due to normal operational disrup- consequently the use of cheaper heavy crude oil with a
tions and the time needed to carry out necessary repairs. sulphur content of 3.5% is still possible.
As the fleet did not generate any charter income on a
further 145 days (1.5%) in spite of technical operating The installation of scrubber systems is associated with
capability, the actual number of operating days totalled large investment. The primary advantage is firstly for
9,196 (97.6%).
the charterer (in the case of time-charter agreements),
as it can continue to use the cheaper fuel with a higher
As part of a joint venture, the ER Group manages a port- sulphur content, and not for the shipping company makfolio of currently twelve container ships. Here the task ing the investment. The shipowner only benefits from
was not only to develop a suitable structure. In particu- the fact that ships equipped with scrubbers may generlar, the team also selects and appoints service provid- ate a higher charter rate because the charterer passes
ers, continuously monitors the course of business and on proportionate cost advantages from the use of more
the individual performance of each ship and provides polluting heavy crude oil through a higher charter rate.
transparent project reporting for investors.
The pollutants filtered out by operating a scrubber are
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either discharged into the ocean or must be stored on
board as hazardous waste and disposed of later in port.
Due to the unfavourable risk/reward profile and the
questionable overall environmental balance, Ernst
Russ AG and any partners involved in shipping companies have deliberately decided against such investment
in scrubber systems and in favour of operation with a
lower-emission bunker fuel.

partner in February 2019 where around 75 subsidised
housing units are due to be built by summer 2021, were
sold at the beginning of the 2020 financial year. In addition, the property in Bad Oldesloe acquired in August
together with another joint venture partner, on which
a total of 136 housing units are due to be built from
2020, was also sold in 2020. There are no other activities in the Housing Construction Projects sub-segment.
Our activities in the Real Estate segment will therefore
focus exclusively on the Fund and Asset Management
sub-segment.

The technical preparation of ER Group vessels for operation with low-sulphur fuel was carried out during ongoing operation in the second half of 2019. Thanks to proactive management of bunker fuel closely coordinated ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS
with the charterers, existing residues of heavy crude oil
with an increased sulphur content had predominantly The Alternative Investments segment comprises both
been used up by 31 December 2019. Only in the case the management and disposal of investment assets iniof two ships, small residual quantities remaining on tiated by the ER Group as well as the operational manboard for operational reasons were returned on time agement of investment assets that are not allocated to
by 29 February 2020.
the Shipping or Real Estate segments.
We support the achievement of the IMO’s goal to reduce
the greenhouse gas emissions of maritime transport
by 40% by 2030 and are therefore constantly reviewing
appropriate technical measures for the ER Group fleet
in order to achieve this goal.
In 2019, one ship of the ER Group's fleet underwent regular class renewal – without any objections. We regularly carry out the major maintenance of technical equipment required in accordance with the manufacturer’s
specifications for our ships under management.

To hone its profile as an asset and investment manager
focusing on the Shipping segment, the ER Group successfully disposed of its subsidiaries operating in the
Solar segment in February 2019. Since that time, the
asset classes, aircraft and life insurance secondary market, have been managed in this segment.

INVESTOR MANAGEMENT

In June 2019, the ER Group sold PECURA Anleger- und
Treuhandservice GmbH and other Group companies,
In 2019, other ship operations ran smoothly without any thus separating itself completely from the Investor Manspecific incidents in close and excellent cooperation with agement segment. The companies disposed of were prithe commissioned ship management companies and the marily trust services and distribution companies. As the
chartering brokers.
ER Group is not planning to launch any further closedend funds, the disposal of these companies made logical sense. Moreover, these transactions will have positive impact on the Group's assets, financial position and
REAL ESTATE
earnings in the long term. In particular, the obligations
The Real Estate segment represented a further ele- and potential risks arising from Section 172 (4) of the
ment of the ER Group's business activities in the report- German Commercial Code (HGB) and from liability in
ing year. In the Real Estate segment, the ER Group’s respect of information contained in prospectuses have
activities were divided into the sub-segments Fund and reduced considerably.
Asset Management (including property management)
and Housing Construction Projects in the reporting year. Until its disposal, the Investor Management segment
basically included the fiduciary management of the
A total of 27 properties are managed.
equity raised as well as other services that extend over
Assetando Real Estate GmbH successfully disposed of the entire lifetime of an investment. All of the ER Group's
several properties in 2019. The properties sold were fiduciary services were grouped under the umbrella of
various commercial properties for investment com- PECURA Anleger- und Treuhandservice GmbH which
panies as well as an office and warehouse property in provides services for various trust and fund shareholders of closed-end funds. These comprise support
Essen which was in the ER Group's own portfolio.
services for private and institutional investors relating
The project sites in ILO Park, Pinneberg, acquired by an to all the commercial and legal aspects of their investErnst Russ AG subsidiary together with a joint venture ment. Other services include the ongoing monitoring and
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assessment of relevant markets, preparation of performance figures and administrative organisation.

PERFORMANCE-BASED MANAGEMENT

Essentially, the success and sustainability of the
ER Group's business operations are based on well-qualified, dedicated and motivated employees, who represent an important non-financial performance indicator
for the ER Group.

The Group is managed on the basis of a steady, methodi- The business activities of the ER Group are led, managed
cal approach. Various financial and non-financial perfor- and monitored by the Executive Board and the extended
management team and at an operational level by the
mance indicators are used.
managing directors of the subsidiaries, as well as by
Revenue, operating earnings and liquidity are the most managers in the segments Shipping, Real Estate, Alterimportant performance indicators for the ER Group. native Investments, Investor Management (until May
Maintaining a good credit rating and a solid equity ratio 2019) and Other Services.
are important elements of operating and financial policy
The main performance indicators for Ernst Russ AG are
at the ER Group.
earnings before taxes, liquidity and employee capacity.
Group budgeting is drawn up on a yearly basis. The
budget is updated at least every quarter and used to For the main subsidiaries and their places of business,
produce a rolling forecast that is presented to the Super- please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial
visory Board. The activities of the company's individual statements of Ernst Russ AG for the 2019 financial year.
operating segments are organised on the basis of the
performance indicators referred to above and are continuously monitored and adjusted by controlling and
management, as part of monthly reporting, for example.
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II.

FINANCIAL REPORT

rose by 1.4% and exports by 0.8% compared with 2018,
although the pace of growth has slackened.

This section describes the macroeconomic environment
and market trends in the Shipping and Real Estate seg- The rise in the inflation rate in Germany slowed last year.
ments in the 2019 reporting year. The disclosures relate The average annual inflation rate was 1.4%, the lowest
in particular to development up to 31 December 2019. in three years.
Due to current developments in connection with coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, there have been substantial changes, At the end of the reporting period, the European Cenparticularly in the shipping market. The impact of these tral Bank's (ECB) reference exchange rate for the euro
changes has not been taken into account in this pres- against the US dollar (USD) was set at USD 1.1234 per
entation for the most part until 2020 due to the increased euro. The common currency therefore gained just under
incidence of the virus. Please see Section 1.5 Forecast. 2% compared with the rate of USD 1.1450 against the
euro at the end of 2018.
MACROECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

At the presentation of the latest annual economic outlook
at the World Economic Forum in Davos in early 2020,
Kristalina Georgieva, managing director of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), briefly described trends
using the words ‘cautious stabilisation’ and ‘sluggish
recovery’. The IMF had revised its growth forecast for
the global economy slightly downwards by 0.1 percentage points accordingly. Growth in the reporting year
was 2.9% (3.6% in 2018). The Kiel Institute for the World
Economy (IfW) also recorded slower momentum in the
global economy with some bright spots in the emerging markets. This was supported by an easing of monetary policy, which is highly expansionary in the advanced
economies. Exports were slightly lower in the fourth
quarter.

The ECB left its interest rate for main refinancing operations at 0.00% as it had done since March 2016. The
currency guardians at the ECB also announced at their
September meeting that they would raise the interest
rate on bank deposits from the previous minus 0.4% to
minus 0.5%. The ECB also resumed its bond purchases
in November 2019. The ECB did not set an end date for
the monthly purchases of EUR 20 billion. The ‘continued
sustained convergence of inflation at a level below, but
close to 2%’ aimed for by the central bank has not yet
been achieved.
The US growth rate for the whole of last year was 2.3%
and, at the lowest value since 2016, clearly missed the
3% target set by President Trump. At the end of the year,
the economy was supported by consumer spending,
exports and government spending programmes. The
US Federal Reserve (Fed) lowered key interest rates in
2019 for the first time since the financial crisis. After
the third consecutive cut, the key interest rate remained
within the target band of 1.5 to 1.75% until the end of the
reporting period.

According to the World Trade Organization (WTO), international trade volume, which is particularly relevant
for international shipping, lagged some way behind the
medium-term growth trend in 2019. According to quarterly statistics, trade in goods declined by 0.2% in the
third quarter of 2019 compared with the previous year, The EUR/USD exchange rate has a direct effect on the
whereas the WTO recorded slight growth in the fourth ER Group's earnings from asset and investment management.
quarter.
The German economy grew for the tenth year in a row in
2019. According to calculations by the German Federal
Statistical Office, real gross domestic product increased
by 0.6% in 2019. However, compared with the average of
1.3% over the last ten years and the significant increase
of 1.5% in the previous year, growth has been weaker
than in previous years.

SHIPPING MARKETS

Despite a very moderate increase in trading volume in
2019, a general recovery of charter rates was recorded
in the container ship segment. This increase did not proceed evenly over the course of the year and did not affect
all ship classes equally. While moderate increases were
Meanwhile, the boom in the German construction indus- observed in the first half of the year, rates rose much
try has continued. Service industries have also remained more sharply in the second half of the year. The larger
intact overall and provided a noticeable boost. Ger- classes above 4,000 TEU in particular recorded strong
man imports and exports in 2019 exceeded the previ- rate increases (in some cases over 100%), which can
ous record levels of 2018: In 2019, goods worth EUR be attributed on the one hand to the greater bundling of
1,104 billion were imported into Germany and goods cargo on ships of larger and larger capacity (to achieve
worth EUR 1,328 billion were exported from Germany. economies of scale) and to the shortage of supply due
As reported by the Federal Statistical Office, imports to the installation of exhaust gas purification systems.
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According to industry service, Alphaliner, 148 new
builds with a total capacity of 1.05 million TEU (previous year: 1.3 million TEU) were delivered in 2019. On
the other hand, recycling activity has almost doubled
compared with 2018. In 2019, a total of 0.21 million TEU
or 66 units were taken out of the market. Overall, container ship tonnage increased to around 23.22 million
TEU. Fleet growth (+4.0%) slowed down noticeably compared with the previous year (+5.7%). In the course of
2019, the unemployed fleet amounted to 1.36 million
TEU (approx. 6% of the total fleet) and more than doubled compared with the previous year (0.63 million TEU).
The background to this was that, particularly in the case
of ships in the segment above 7,500 TEU, exhaust gas
purification systems were installed in the second half
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of the year and the ships were temporarily taken out of
service for this purpose. Due to longer installation times
than originally expected (approximately eight weeks or
more), a large number of vessels were temporarily withdrawn from service, which substantially increased the
number of allegedly unemployed vessels. As a result of
this shortage of supply, charter rates in December 2019
were above the previous year's level in almost all size
classes. The sharpest increases were recorded in the
Panamax and Post-Panamax class segments (4,000 TEU
to 8,500 TEU) from the second half of the year onwards,
while the 1,000 TEU class was the only class to show
a slight decline (-2%). This is due to the fact that charterers increasingly used larger units (1,700 TEU) for
the important feeder trades (for example, intra-Asia).
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The general trend is also apparent from the performance of the New Contex (Container Ship Time Charter Assessment Index). The Panamax class segment (+
4,000 TEU) grew by more than 36% year-on-year, ships
with 2,500 to 3,500 TEU recorded an increase of 0.6%
and 11.9% and the 1,700 TEU size class grew by 10.5%.
The New Contex only showed a decline of -3.5% compared with the previous year for smaller feeder ships
with 1,000 TEU.

Similar to the container market, a significant difference
between the first and second half of the year was also
observed in the bulker market in 2019. The basic conditions (supply and demand) were generally favourable,
however, the collapse of iron ore trading at the beginning
of the year, as a result of the burst dam at the Brucutu
mine belonging to mining company Vale in Brazil, led
to a massive decline in charter rates to below operating cost level, particularly in the capesize bulker segment (180,000 DWT). This trend was also reinforced by
other factors such as storm damage, breakdowns in
Australian ports, import restrictions on coal in China
and South Korea and technical damage during bauxite
handling in Guinea. Transport volumes in the steel trade
also declined sharply, which had a particularly negative impact on the smaller bulker segment (handysize,
38,000 DWT). In the second half of the year, the trend
pointed in a completely different direction and charter
rates rose to annual highs in the third quarter. The main
reasons for this were the recovery of transport volumes
in Brazil and the huge increase in imports of iron ore and
coal in China. Overall, however, trading volume in the
dry bulk market increased by only 1% compared with
the previous year. At the beginning of the fourth quarter,
charter rates were in free fall. A major explanation for
the collapse of the market was that the trading houses
for goods and shipping space underestimated the high
price difference between low-sulphur and high-sulphur
fuels and were too late in factoring this into their calculations. In order to continue achieving margins, price
increases would have been necessary, which the dealers
were unable to implement. Trade volume fell abruptly
as a result. Transactions for capesize bulkers in the
Pacific plummeted to USD 7,000/day, round trips from
China to Brazil and back to USD 8,000/day. Panamax
bulkers (82,000 DWT) achieved only USD 5,000/day for
voyages in the North Pacific. As with container shipping,
the shortage of supply due to the installation of exhaust
gas purification systems at the end of 2019 had a positive effect on the bulk market and halted the drastic
decline in freight rates. The development of freight rates
in 2019 shows that only the capesize segment was able
to achieve an annual average growth rate of USD 18,025
compared with the previous year (USD 16,529). Smaller
bulkers with their own loading gear, on the other hand,
even fell below the 10-year average.
According to analysts, Clarksons, the global bulker fleet
recorded an increase of around 4% in 2019 (compared
with 2.9% in 2018). The weighted average rates for bulkers were USD 11,480/day in 2019, which corresponds
to a decline of around 6% compared with the previous
year's average of USD 12,249. The Baltic Dry Index (BDI),
a price index for the transport of bulk goods, reflects
this trend. In 2019, the index rose sharply in the first
half of the year and reached a new 5-year high of 2,462
points at the beginning of September. However, the index
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closed the 2019 financial year at 1,090 points as a result
of the decline in rates in December and was thus below
the previous year's level of 1,271 points.
In the first half of 2019, the tanker market was plagued
by uncertainty regarding the safety of vessels and trade
routes in general following the incidents in the Strait of
Hormuz (Iran, Persian Golf). In addition, extensive maintenance work at the refineries depressed the supply of
crude oil. In the second half of the year, the installation
of scrubbers (approximately 1.1% of the fleet in 2019)
also helped in the tanker market, as a result of which a
supply-demand gap opened up at the beginning of the
fourth quarter and rates climbed to the 2015 level in
almost all size classes. In the crude oil tanker segment,
the sanctions imposed on Venezuela and, in this context,
on Cosco, led to a shortage of tonnage and increased the
rates for VLCC tankers to up to USD 300,000. At the end
of the year, the rapid rate increase was corrected, but
rates in most size classes were still significantly higher
than in the previous year.
According to Clarksons, the tanker fleet saw yearon-year growth of 4% in 2019 and a 0.5% increase in
demand. The Baltic Clean Tanker Index (BCTI), an important price index for the global shipping of oil products,
rose from 666 to 744 points in the first quarter of 2019
before moving sideways with a general downward trend
and regular fluctuations until the third quarter. In October, the index rose rapidly and at the same time recorded
its high for the year at around 950 points. After a correction to almost 600 points, the index rose again at the end
of the year, ending 2019 at 880 points.

REAL ESTATE MARKETS

In the reporting year, the real estate markets throughout Germany, and especially in the main centres (Berlin, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt am Main, Hamburg, Cologne,
Munich and Stuttgart) again saw positive growth in the
main sub-sectors of office, commercial and residential
property. According to a study by real estate company,
Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL), transaction volumes in Germany in 2019 unexpectedly went up significantly once
again year-on-year to around EUR 91 billion (+16%). The
most popular types of use by transaction volume were
again office properties (40%) and residential properties(24%), followed by retail (12%), logistics/industrial
(8%) and other properties.
Continued strong investor interest was supported by
ongoing good economic conditions, low unemployment
figures and the European Central Bank's (ECB) low interest rate policy. The continuously favourable financing
conditions and the lack of alternative high-yield investments boosted demand for real estate investments.
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According to JLL, the main investors were traditional
asset/fund managers, special funds and real estate
companies. The transaction volume was evenly distributed among domestic and foreign investors in the
reporting period.
According to Ernst & Young, the transaction volume of
the German commercial property market reached a
new record level of over EUR 70 billion in 2019, with
the fourth quarter being the strongest quarter ever in
terms of revenue.
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The residential property market was characterised able inner-city areas for new construction activities also
by a shortage of housing in the reporting year. Accord- leads to an expansion into outlying regions. The stock of
ing to a JLL survey of the big 8 cities, rents increased price-controlled, publicly subsidised housing continues
by 4.1% on average in 2019. This increase is slightly to decline. The availability of affordable housing therebelow that of the previous year and below the five-year fore continues to be an increasing challenge in the major
average from 2014 to 2018. Significant regional differ- cities and metropolitan regions.
ences can be observed, ranging from +1.4% in Leipzig
to +8.0% in Cologne. The slight downward trend in rent A significant increase in purchase prices was observed
increases year-on-year can be partly explained by an once again in the transactions market for residential
overall increase in new construction activity, which pro- property. In the big 8 cities studied by JLL, average price
vides some relief. It can also be seen that the rising cost growth was +10.2%, which is above the previous year’s
of housing is leading to a shift in demand towards the growth (+8.2%) and the five-year average from 2014 to
surrounding areas. Furthermore, regulatory interven- 2018 (+8.2%). Here too, clear regional differences can
tions, such as the expansion of environmental protection be observed. While an average purchase price of EUR
areas or the introduction of a rent cap (Berlin) in central 8,130/m2 was observed in Munich, the most expensive
locations, can be increasingly observed. The lack of suit- city, in Leipzig it was only EUR 2,260/m2.
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1.2.	ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
EARNINGS

operations. Income and expenses attributable to neutral
or non-operating activities mainly result from one-off
business transactions or those that are not related to
ordinary business activities.

Ernst Russ AG prepared its consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019 in accordance with Sections 290 et seq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB) Due to the disposal of the Investor Management segment
and the additional provisions of the German Stock Cor- as of 31 May 2019 and the first-time consolidation of
poration Act (AktG). The presentation of the assets, finan- Elbfeeder Inc. and its seven single ship subsidiaries in
cial position and earnings is based on the accounting the reporting year, comparability with the previous year
figures in the consolidated financial statements, but is possible only to a limited extent. Please see Section (2)
follows economic criteria. Income and expenses attrib- (b) of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
uted to operating earnings relate to the ordinary business activities of the ER Group and are generally of a
ASSETS
recurring nature. They also include income that is not I.
directly related to ordinary business activities, but correspond to expenses that are attributed to the area of The assets of the ER Group are as follows:
IN EUR MILLION

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

CHANGE

Assets

148.7

103.4

45.3

Non-current assets

125.3

61.4

63.9

Purchased service agreements

3.0

7.4

-4.4

Goodwill

3.8

5.1

-1.3

103.9

22.0

81.9

0.6

0.9

-0.3

12.5

24.3

-11.8

1.5

1.7

-0.2

23.4

42.0

-18.6

1.2

6.9

-5.7

10.5

16.6

-6.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

10.0

16.5

-6.5

Deferred income

0.7

0.6

0.1

Deferred tax assets

0.9

1.3

-0.4

Equity and liabilities

148.7

103.4

45.3

Non-current capital

125.7

70.4

55.3

68.7

51.1

17.6

0.7

0.9

-0.2

Non-current provisions and liabilities

56.3

18.4

37.9

Current capital

23.0

33.0

-10.0

Current provisions and liabilities

22.2

28.9

-6.7

Deferred income

0.6

1.9

-1.3

Deferred tax liabilities

0.2

2.2

-2.0

Ships
Other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Financial assets
Non-current receivables and other assets
Current assets
Inventories
Current receivables and other assets
Securities
Cash and cash equivalents

Equity
Negative goodwill from capital consolidation
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The balance sheet total went up from EUR 103.4 million as at 31 December 2018 by EUR 45.3 million to EUR
148.7 million as at 31 December 2019. The individual
balance sheet items are explained below.

Fixed assets went up by EUR 64.1 million to EUR 123.8
million and thus accounted for 83.2% of total assets. The
increase in fixed assets resulted in particular from the
addition of further vessels:

The increase in non-current assets of EUR 63.9 million
to EUR 125.3 million is mainly due to the addition of further seagoing vessels.

SIZE

YEAR OF
CONSTRUCTION

31.12.2019
CARRYING AMOUNT

31.12.2018
CARRYING AMOUNT

CHANGE

Container

3,100 TEU

2006

8.3

0.0

8.3

Eliza

Container

1,300 TEU

2010

7.4

0.0

7.4

Eldra

Container

1,300 TEU

2010

7.4

0.0

7.4

Emma

Container

1,700 TEU

2008

6.5

0.0

6.5

Emira

Container

1,700 TEU

2008

6.5

0.0

6.5

Elena

Container

1,300 TEU

2007

5.4

0.0

5.4

Ava

Container

725 TEU

2008

2.9

0.0

2.9

44.4

0.0

44.4

IN EUR MILLION

SHIP TYPE

Olivia

ElbFeeder fleet
Rubina

Bulker

Hebe

Container

38,000 DWT

2018

16.6

0.0

16.6

3,100 TEU

2008

9.8

0.0

9.8

26.4

0.0

26.4

MS Julia KG
Rita

Container

2,700 TEU

2007

8.3

8.7

-0.4

Ella

Container

2,500 TEU

2003

6.4

6.8

-0.4

Polonia

Container

3,100 TEU

2003

6.3

6.5

-0.2

21.0

22.0

-1.0

REAH fleet
Venetia

Container

4,200 TEU

2010

8.7

0.0

8.7

Skogafoss

Container

700 TEU

2007

3.4

0.0

3.4

103.9

22.0

81.9

Total

Additions relate to the acquisition of two container ships, investments in equity interests of EUR 3.0 million were
the first-time consolidation of MS ‘JULIA’ Schiffahrts- made in the residential projects segment. Purchased
gesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, which operates a container service agreements were down EUR 2.5 million due to
ship and a bulker, and the first-time consolidation of depreciation and amortisation of EUR 1.9 million and
Elbfeeder Inc., including its seven single ship subsid- disposals as part of the disposal of the Investor Maniaries, each of which operates a container ship. The agement and the Solar segments.
total acquisition costs of EUR 85.1 million are offset
by depreciation and amortisation of EUR 3.2 million. In The purchase price allocation for the business comcontrast, Financial assets were down EUR 11.8 million, binations completed in previous financial years gave
in particular due to the sale of shares in HAMMONIA rise to goodwill which was down EUR 1.3 million in the
Reederei GmbH & Co. KG (carrying amount EUR 6.2 mil- reporting year. The decrease is mainly due to deprelion) and the disposal of the carrying amount of the ciation and amortisation of EUR 0,7 million. Further
equity interest in Elbfeeder Inc. of EUR 6.9 million due EUR 0.7 million relate to the disposal of the Investor
to full consolidation in the reporting year. In addition, Managment segment.
amortisation was recognised on financial assets due
to impairments of EUR 1.2 million. On the other hand,
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Current assets fell by EUR 18.6 million to EUR 23.4
million.
The Schnieringshof property in Essen was shown under
Inventories as the intention was to sell it. The property
with a carrying amount of EUR 6.0 million was sold for
EUR 8.6 million in the reporting year. In addition, unfinished services in connection with operating costs not
yet invoiced fell by EUR 0.7 million. Stocks of lubricants
and fuels increased by EUR 1.0 million due to the higher
number of owned ships.
Current receivables and other assets were down EUR
6.1 million. EUR 4.1 million of this amount relates to
receivables in the Investor Management segment. Furthermore, receivables in connection with services were
down EUR 0.7 million in the Shipping segment and
EUR 0.6 million in the Real Estate segment. In addition,
receivables from sales and income tax fell by EUR 0.9
million.
Cash and cash equivalents held by the ER Group were
down EUR 6.5 million to EUR 10.0 million. This development is not in line with the previous year's forecast in
which the ER Group assumed a constant level of cash
and cash equivalents. The deviation from the forecast
resulted from the higher net capital expenditure in the
Shipping segment. For the change in cash and cash
equivalents, please refer to the notes on the financial
position.
Deferred tax assets mainly relate to the different treatment of provisions for pensions and onerous contracts
between the commercial accounts and tax statements.
Due to the partial reversal through profit and loss of provisions for onerous contracts and the sale of the property in Essen, which was treated differently under tax
and commercial law, deferred tax assets have reduced
accordingly.
Equity was up EUR 17.6 million to EUR 68.7 million compared with the previous year. In addition to the consolidated net income for the year, the increase in equity is
due to a higher equity share of minority shareholders
of EUR 15.9 million. The minority interest in equity was
up EUR 16.0 million, in particular due to the first-time
consolidation of Elbfeeder Inc. and MS ‘Julia’ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG. The Group's equity ratio fell
to 46.2% (previous year: 49.4%).
EUR 0.2 million of the Negative goodwill from capital
consolidation was reversed through profit or loss in the
reporting year since the related risks did not materialise.
Non-current provisions and liabilities were up EUR
37.9 million to EUR 56.3 million compared with the previous year and EUR 51.9 million relates to the financing
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of the ER Group fleet. EUR 42.0 million of the increase is
due to the financing of the ships acquired in the reporting year. In contrast, repayments of EUR 2.3 million were
made on loan obligations that existed in the previous
year.
Furthermore, non-current provisions were down EUR 1.1
million due in particular to the disposal of the Investor
Management segment.
Current provisions and liabilities decreased, largely
due to the repayment of the loan in connection with
the sale of the Schnieringshof property in Essen of
EUR 7.4 million. Current provisions also decreased by
EUR 6.4 million. Provisions for taxes of EUR 2.5 million
and provisions for personnel of EUR 1.5 million were
reduced in particular. On the other hand, current liabilities from ship financing were up EUR 8.2 million due to
the ship acquisitions made in the reporting year.
Deferred income was down due to the disposal of the
Investor Management segment.
Deferred tax liabilities stemmed primarily from unrealised gains on intangible assets that were recognised
in the course of first-time consolidation. Deferred tax
liabilities were reduced in line with the amortisation and
disposal of intangible assets.
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II.

FINANCIAL POSITION

IN EUR MILLION

2019

2018

Consolidated net income, including earnings attributable to non-controlling interests

1.7

6.4

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment charges and write-ups on fixed assets

6.7

9.5

-2.8

-3.5

Non-cash expenses and income

1.1

-3.8

Change in working capital

6.8

-1.2

Adjustments to interest income, investment income and taxes

0.8

-4.8

Income tax payments

-2.1

-3.6

Cash flow from operating activities

12.2

-1.0

Cash flow from investing activities

-15.8

2.8

Cash flow from financing activities

-2.8

-3.3

Net cash outflow

-6.4

-1.5

Changes due to exchange rates

-0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

16.5

17.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

10.0

16.5

Decrease in provisions

Changes due to scope of consolidation

Cash flow from operating activities was EUR 12.2 mil- other lenders of EUR 13.5 million and interest payments
lion in the 2019 financial year (previous year: EUR -1.0 of EUR 2.4 million. This was offset by payments received
million). Compared with the equivalent period in the pre- from the uptake of ship financing in amount of EUR 12.3
vious year, this represents an increase of EUR 13.2 mil- million.
lion. The increase was due in particular to the sale of the
Schnieringshof property in Essen involving an incom- Taking into account exchange-rate related changes in
ing payment of EUR 8.6 million. Income tax payments cash and cash equivalents of EUR -0.1 million (previalso fell by EUR 1.5 million, as higher capital gains tax ous year: EUR 0.1 million), this resulted in a reduction
was paid in the previous year due to distributions. Fur- of cash and cash equivalents of around EUR 6.5 million
thermore, provisions and liabilities were reduced to a as of 31 December 2019. Cash and cash equivalents
greater extent in the previous year, which had a negative at the end of the period amounted to EUR 10.0 million
(previous year: EUR 16.5 million).
impact on operating cash flow.
Cash flow from investing activities of EUR -15.8 million (previous year: EUR 2.8 million) resulted primarily from investments in property, plant and equipment
of EUR 13.1 million, in particular for the acquisitions of
MS Skogafoss and MS Venetia. Moreover, additions and
disposals of consolidated subsidiaries affected Group
liquidity. The acquisition of MS ‘JULIA’ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG in particular led to a cash outflow of EUR 6.6 million. Investments in financial assets
of EUR 5.0 million were offset by corresponding income
of EUR 8.7 million. Interest and dividends received were
down by EUR 0.9 million.
Cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR
-2.8 million (previous year: EUR -3.3 million) and related
mainly to repayments of amounts owed to banks and
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III.

EARNINGS

Compared with the previous year, the ER Group's earnings in the 2019 financial year are as follows:
IN EUR MILLION

2019

2018

CHANGE

Revenue

58.8

52.7

6.1

Change in inventories

-0.7

0.1

-0.8

Total revenue

58.1

52.8

5.3

2.8

9.3

-6.5

Cost of materials and services

-32.4

-23.1

-9.3

Personnel expenses

-10.4

-15.3

4.9

Other operating expenses

-9.1

-15.1

6.0

Depreciation

-5.0

-4.8

-0.2

Operating earnings (EBIT)

4.0

3.8

0.2

Other operating income

4.4

7.6

-3.2

Other operating expenses

-2.9

-2.2

-0.7

Other impairment charges*

-1.0

-3.2

2.2

Neutral result

0.5

2.2

-1.7

Net income from investments in associates

0.1

-1.5

1.6

Write-ups of financial assets*

0.4

0.4

0.0

Income from other equity interests

2.0

4.3

-2.3

Other interest and similar income*

0.3

0.4

-0.1

Amortisation of financial assets

-1.1

-2.0

0.9

Interest and similar expenses

-2.7

-1.5

-1.2

Net interest and investment income

-1.0

0.1

-1.1

3.5

6.1

-2.6

Income taxes

-1.7

0.4

-2.1

Other taxes

-0.1

-0.1

0.0

1.7

6.4

-4.7

-0.2

-0.2

0.0

1.5

6.2

-4.7

Other operating income*

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

Consolidated net income before non-controlling interests
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated net income after non-controlling interests

* Previous year’s figure adjusted: Write-ups on financial assets of EUR 0.4 million allocated to Net interest and investment income from Other operating income. Writedowns on interest receivable from a former subsidiary of EUR 1.3 million offset by corresponding interest income.
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Revenue increased by EUR 6.1 million to EUR 58.8 million in the reporting period. This performance is in line
with the expectations in the previous year's forecast
which assumed moderate growth. Revenue is made up
as follows:
IN EUR MILLION

2019

2018

CHANGE

CHANGE IN %

Revenue

58.8

52.7

6.1

11.6%

Shipping

38.5

25.6

12.9

50.4%

Real Estate

14.8

14.9

-0.1

-0.7%

Investor Management

3.3

9.0

-5.7

-63.3%

Alternative Investments

1.5

2.2

-0.7

-31.8%

Other services

0.7

1.0

-0.3

-30.0%

Income from the Shipping segment increased by EUR
12.9 million accounting for around 65% of revenue in
2019. The increase resulted particularly from higher
charter income in connection with the operation of
thirteen container ships and a bulker. The fleet thus
increased from three to 14 ships compared with the previous year. Charter income increased year-on-year by
EUR 17.0 million to EUR 24.0 million. Income in the Ship
Management segment fell by EUR 3.0 million however.
Crewing income was down EUR 1.3 million and technical management fees down EUR 1.1 million due to ship
disposals by fund companies. Asset management fees
fell year-on-year by EUR 0.7 million to EUR 4.4 million.
As in the previous year, revenue performance in the Real
Estate segment was dominated essentially by the sale of
an owned property. A property at Schnieringshof in Essen
was sold for EUR 8.6 million in the reporting year, after
another property in Essen had been sold in the previous
year at a selling price of EUR 7.9 million. Income from
one-off fees such as liquidation and sales fees fell by EUR
0.9 million to EUR 1.5 million in the reporting year.
Income from the Investor Management segment
amounted to EUR 3.3 million for the period from 1 January to the deconsolidation date of 31 May 2019 (previous year total: EUR 9.0 million).
The decline in the Alternative Investments segment is
due to the disposal of the Solar segment at the beginning
of the 2019 financial year.
Revenue from Other Services mainly consists of income
from agency agreements, charges invoiced to funds,
fees for interest and currency management and income
from accounting services.

Change in inventories relates to changes in operating
costs that have not yet been invoiced for the property
presented under inventories in the reporting year. In
the 2019 financial year, ancillary operating costs were
invoiced for the years 2017 to 2019.
Total revenue for the ER Group came to EUR 58.1 million in 2019, a year-on-year increase of EUR 5.3 million.
Other operating income of EUR 2.8 million was EUR 6.5
million lower than the previous year. The decrease is
due in particular to lower income in connection with the
reversal of negative goodwill of EUR 0.2 million (previous year: EUR 2.6 million) and lower insurance payments
of EUR 0.2 million (previous year: EUR 1.9 million). Insurance payments in the previous year of EUR 1.0 million
related to income from loss of hire insurance due to the
loss of an owned container ship. In addition, income from
the reversal of provisions and income from on-debiting and reimbursement of costs fell by EUR 0.7 million
respectively.
Cost of materials and services went up by EUR 9.3 million in the reporting year, due primarily to the increase
of EUR 9.8 million in ship operating and crewing costs
in connection with the expansion of the fleet. Furthermore, this item also includes the disposal of the carrying amount of the Schnieringshof property in Essen,
which was sold in the reporting year, of EUR 6.0 million
(previous years: other property in Essen with a carrying
amount of EUR 5.5 million). By contrast, expenses for
subcontractors for technical management were down
EUR 1.3 million.
Personnel expenses went down significantly year-onyear from EUR 15.3 million to EUR 10.4 million. On an

41

CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

Ernst Russ AG

|

Annual Report 2019

Assets, financial position and earnings

FTE basis, employee capacity fell from an average of
165 in 2018 to 103 as of 31 December 2019, comprising
81 individual employees. This decline is due mainly to
the disposal of the Investor Management segment and
other Group companies and the resulting adjustment of
the number of employees in staff functions.
Other operating expenses of EUR 9.1 million were down
EUR 6.0 million on the previous year. These include legal
and advisory costs of EUR 1.8 million (previous year:
EUR 2.6 million), impairment losses and write-downs
on receivables of EUR 1.5 million (previous year: EUR
3.6 million), rental and lease expenses of EUR 1.5 million
(previous year: EUR 2.4 million), accounting and audit
costs of EUR 0.6 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 million)
and insurance costs for the ER Group of EUR 0.5 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 million). In addition, travel,
entertainment and postage expenses fell by a total of
EUR 0.7 million.

losses of EUR 0.2 million on purchased service agreements were recognised. The result from exchange rate
differences was negative at EUR -0.4 million.
Net interest and investment income came to EUR -1.0
million (previous year adjusted: EUR 0.1 million). In particular, the EUR 1.2 million increase in interest expenses
in connection with the financing of the ship fleet reduced
net interest and investment income. The impairment
losses on financial assets that were down EUR 0.9 million and net income from associates that was up EUR 1.6
million was offset by income from the sale of financial
assets that was down EUR 1.5 million and other investment income that was down EUR 1.0 million.
Earnings before taxes (EBT) for 2019 came to EUR 3.5
million (previous year: EUR 6.1 million).

Taxes for the 2019 financial year represented an
expense of EUR 1.7 million (previous year: income of
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of EUR 5.0 EUR 0.4 million) and resulted from negative deferred
million (previous year: EUR 4.8 million) was recognised taxes of EUR -0.2 million (previous year: income of EUR
mainly on property, plant and equipment and intangible 1.8 million). Current tax expenses of EUR 1.5 million (preassets. This increase resulted from an increase of EUR vious year: EUR 1.4 million) relate to trade and corpo2.2 million in depreciation of ship assets in connection ration tax, solidarity surcharge and the corresponding
with the expansion of the own fleet. By contrast, impair- foreign income taxes.
ment losses for purchased service agreements were
Overall, the factors described resulted in positive Condown EUR 1.9 million.
solidated net income after non-controlling interests of
Operating earnings (EBIT before neutral result) for the EUR 1.5 million (previous year: EUR 6.2 million).
ER Group were positive at EUR 4.0 million, which is EUR
0.2 million more than the previous year's figure of EUR
3.8 million due to the course of business as described in
the 2019 reporting year (adjusted). In the previous year’s
Forecast, positive operating earnings were expected for
the 2019 financial year, which were below the operating earnings for the 2018 financial year. The previous
year's forecast has therefore been exceeded. This is due
to higher charter income and consequently a better performance of the own fleet as well as greater savings in
the area of personnel costs and costs of materials.
The Neutral result was positive in the year under review
at EUR 0.5 million. It includes deconsolidation profit of
EUR 1.2 thousand from the disposal of the Solar segment. In addition, the acquisition of further shares in a
Group subsidiary led to non-operating income of EUR 1.1
million. Non-operating income also includes income of
EUR 0.7 million from the reversal of provisions. By contrast, a loss of EUR 1.6 million was incurred as a result
of the deconsolidation of the Investor Management segment. The deconsolidation loss was offset by a significant reduction in the risks associated with liability in
respect of information contained in prospectuses and
obligations arising from Sections 171 and 172 (4) of the
German Commercial Code. In addition, amortisation of
goodwill of EUR 0.7 million and unscheduled impairment
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IV.	OVERALL STATEMENT ON THE COURSE OF
BUSINESS

V.	ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
EARNINGS OF ERNST RUSS AG AND
OUTLOOK

In the 2019 financial year, the ER Group focused in particular on investments in the Shipping segment and The annual financial statements of Ernst Russ AG were
expanded its own fleet from three to 14 vessels and also prepared in accordance with the German Commerthus the investment fleet to 28 vessels. Operating earn- cial Code (HGB) and the German Stock Corporation Act
ings were significantly positive. However, the challeng- (AktG). The presentation of the assets and earnings is
ing market conditions meant that further write-downs based on the accounting figures, but follows economic
on equity interests and receivables and additional pro- criteria.
visions were unavoidable. Although these reduced consolidated net income, they did not have a direct impact
on the ER Group's liquidity. Consolidated net income after ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION
tax and before non-controlling interests came to approximately EUR 1.7 million. As of 31 December 2019, the ER The following table shows figures from the balance
Group's liquidity was lower than the previous year at sheet of Ernst Russ AG.
around EUR 6.5 million as a result of investments at the
end of the year. The Group's equity ratio fell from around
49.4% to around 46.2%. Under the circumstances, the
Executive Board considers business performance to be
satisfactory overall.

ASSETS IN EUR MILLION

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

CHANGE

Assets

71.7

79.4

-7.7

Non-current assets

62.6

64.9

-2.3

0.2

0.4

-0.2

57.0

62.9

-5.9

Non-current receivables and other assets

5.4

1.6

3.8

Current assets

9.1

14.5

-5.4

Current receivables and other assets

7.8

13.8

-6.0

Securities

0.1

0.1

0.0

Cash and cash equivalents

1.1

0.3

0.8

Deferred income

0.1

0.3

-0.2

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

CHANGE

Equity and liabilities

71.7

79.4

-7.7

Non-current capital

54.1

41.5

12.6

Equity

51.6

37.9

13.7

2.5

3.6

-1.1

Current capital

17.6

37.9

-20.3

Current provisions and liabilities

17.5

36.2

-18.7

0.1

1.7

-1.6

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES IN EUR MILLION

Non-current provisions and liabilities

Deferred income
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The decrease in Financial assets as of 31 December The increase of EUR 0.8 million in Cash and cash equiv2019 of EUR 5.9 million to EUR 57.0 million (previous alents from EUR 0.3 million as of 31 December 2018 to
year: EUR 62.9 million) was due essentially to divest- EUR 1.1 million as of 31 December 2019 was not in line
ments of EUR 16.9 million. Of this amount, a disposal with the previous year's forecast due to distributions and
of a carrying amount of EUR 7.5 million relates to sub- loans granted at the end of the 2019 financial year. It
sidiaries in the Investor Management segment. Other was assumed that liquidity would be constant.
disposals relate mainly to withdrawals from the capital reserves of subsidiaries. Unscheduled amortisation Equity was up EUR 13.7 million to EUR 51.6 million due
of EUR 0.5 million was recognised on financial assets, to the profit reported for the 2019 financial year.
which was offset by write-ups of the same amount. By
contrast, investments totalled EUR 11.0 million, EUR Non-current provisions and liabilities were down due
9.4 million of which relates to payments into the capi- to repayments.
tal reserves of subsidiaries in the Shipping segment to
The decrease in Current provisions and liabilities of
finance ship investments.
EUR 18.7 million to EUR 17.5 million resulted primarily
Non-current receivables and other assets relate to a from a decrease of EUR 17.7 million in amounts owed to
loan receivable from Elbfeeder Inc. of EUR 2.4 million subsidiaries. A distribution from a subsidiary in the Real
and a loan receivable of EUR 1.5 million from a sub- Estate segment of EUR 17.0 million reduced an obligasidiary in the Real Estate segment for the financing of tion by a similar amount. In addition, amounts owed to
investments in equity interests in the residential pro- former subsidiaries in the Investor Management segjects segment. Other non-current receivables relate ment were paid. Furthermore, a liability of EUR 0.9 milmainly to a loan receivable from a former subsidiary lion from the acquisition of a subsidiary was settled at
and part of the purchase price receivable from the dis- the beginning of 2019.
posal of the Investor Management segment.
The decrease in Current receivables and other assets
of EUR 6.0 million to EUR 7.8 million resulted primarily
from a decrease of EUR 6.4 million in current receivables from affiliates. The decrease in receivables was due
in particular to repayments made by former subsidiaries
in the Investor Management segment and a subsidiary
in the Shipping segment. By contrast, tax receivables
increased by EUR 0.3 million.
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EARNINGS

The following table shows the main earnings figures
for Ernst Russ AG for the 2019 financial year compared
with the 2018 financial year. In the 2019 financial year,
the earnings of Ernst Russ AG were mainly determined
by revenue from intra-Group services, lower personnel
expenses and distributions from affiliated companies.
The income and expenses from intra-Group transactions
were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
IN EUR MILLION

2019

2018

CHANGE

Revenue

4.9

6.0

-1.1

Other operating income

6.0

7.0

-1.0

Personnel expenses

-4.1

-4.9

0.8

Other operating expenses

-8.8

-5.5

-3.3

Net investment income

17.2

3.8

13.4

Depreciation

-2.2

-3.9

1.7

1.2

0.8

0.4

Net tax expense

-0.5

-0.1

-0.4

Net income for the year

13.7

3.2

10.5

Other financial income

Revenue in 2019 mainly consisted of income from services to affiliated companies. The decline was due to the
lower number of subsidiaries, particularly as a result of
the disposal of the Investor Management segment.
Other operating income relates to proceeds from the
sale of a service agreement to a subsidiary of EUR 2.8
million. In addition, profit of EUR 1.8 million (previous
year: EUR 2.1 million) was generated from the sale of
financial assets. This item also includes income of EUR
0.5 million from the write-up of financial assets.

includes legal and advisory costs of EUR 0.5 million
(previous year: EUR 1.3 million), expenses for rent and
office space of EUR 0.6 million (previous year EUR 0.9
million), expenses for insurance and premiums of EUR
0.3 million (previous year: 0.5 million), accounting and
audit costs of EUR 0.3 million (previous year: 0.3 million)
and expenses from allocations to provisions for other
obligations of EUR 0.5 million (previous year: EUR 1.0
million). It was therefore possible to reduce significant
costs of material items.

Net investment income increased year-on-year by EUR
Personnel expenses were down EUR 0.8 million to EUR 13.4 million to EUR 17.2 million. It mainly includes the
4.1 million. The decrease is based on the reduction of distribution of EUR 17.0 million by a subsidiary in the
average employee capacity from 43 to 35 in the report- Real Estate segment.
ing year, in particular due to the adjustment of the number
of employees in staff functions in connection with the dis- Depreciation, amortisation and impairment relates
posal of the Investor Management segment. The reduc- particularly to impairment losses of EUR 0.5 million (pretion of the Executive Board from two members to one is vious year: EUR 2.4 million) on financial assets and to
also a contributing factor to the reduction of personnel depreciation of EUR 1.4 million (previous year: EUR 1.3
expenses. The decrease in employee capacity is in line million) on current assets in excess of what would normally be recognised.
with the projections in the previous year's forecast.
The increase in Other operating expenses was due to
an accounting loss from the sale of a subsidiary in the
Investor Management segment of EUR 5.1 million. This
loss was offset by a disposal gain of EUR 1.8 million
reported under other operating income. This item also

Other net financial income of EUR 1.2 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 million) includes interest income of
EUR 1.6 million (previous year: EUR 1.4 million). This
mainly relates to interest income of EUR 1.4 million (previous year: EUR 1.3 million) on receivables from a for-
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mer Group company, which were written off in full. It 1.3. PERSONNEL
also includes interest income of EUR 0.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.1 million) on receivables from affiliated The table below shows the main personnel figures for
companies. This was offset by interest expenses of EUR the ER Group in a year-on-year comparison:
0.4 million (previous year: EUR 0.6 million) that mainly
2019
2018
relate to interest on loans received from affiliated companies.
The very positive earnings before tax forecast in the previous year were achieved in the reporting year.

Average number of employees

113

180

Average employee capacity*

103

165

3

4

Apprentices

Given the connections between Ernst Russ AG and
Personnel expenses in EUR
10.4
15.3
million
the Group companies, the assumptions and premises
made in the Forecast and the Opportunities and Risks *Full-time equivalent
sections also apply to the parent company. The Outlook
for the 2020 financial year for Ernst Russ AG predicts The decline is mainly due to the disposal of the Invespositive pre tax earnings which are significantly below tor Management segment, other Group companies and
the previous year’s level due to planned distributions by the resulting adjustment of the number of employees in
subsidiaries. At the time of preparing the annual finan- staff functions.
cial statements of Ernst Russ AG and the consolidated
management report, no circumstances relating to the
corona pandemic had arisen that had a negative impact
on the financial statements of Ernst Russ AG. We have 1.4. OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS
anticipated potential impact in the company and Group
budget. However, it should be noted that the budget is Acting in an entrepreneurial way and seizing opportunities
subject to considerable uncertainty and accurate fore- involves taking deliberate risks. These business decisions
casting is considerably more difficult. Budgeting has are appropriate to the extent that acts or omissions result
not included potential unscheduled depreciation, amor- in economic benefits for the ER Group. Risks in the sense
tisation and impairment, in particular of shares in affil- used here mean the possibility of adverse future effects on
iated companies and equity interests in the Shipping the economic situation (earnings and assets and/or liquidsegment, due to effects of the corona crisis. We assume ity) and development of the ER Group. Opportunities on
that the negative influences will balance each other out the other hand represent the possibility of positive future
over time. Because of investments in new business, we effects. These opportunities and risks have a specific
assume a slightly reduced liquidity situation. By contrast, probability of occurrence. The objectives of the ER Group
employee capacity will be slightly lower than the previ- are defined in the company's business plans and form the
ous year due to the focussing strategy.
foundation for entrepreneurial activities. Events that could
jeopardise the implementation of current plans, and therefore the objectives, are to be identified and treated as risks.
An appropriate approach is not to avoid all potential risks,
but to deal with them in a controlled way.
A short to medium-term perspective is used to assess
opportunities and risks. The management of opportunities
and risks extends to all the companies in the ER Group.
Based on as broad an awareness as possible of the
effects of potential threats, it is possible to assume risks
deliberately and achieve an equilibrium between seizing
opportunities and taking risks.
Altogether, the intention is to identify potentially significant threats from risks and from the potential failure of opportunities at an early stage and to implement
appropriate countermeasures. This makes it possible to
improve the overall company performance and make
use of existing opportunities which in turn increase the
value of the company.
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I.

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

1.3.

1.1

OBJECTIVES AND STRUCTURE

All identified risks are classified according to standard
metrics using quantitative and qualitative indicators. A
two-dimensional risk map has been developed for the
specific requirements of the ER Group, in which the
risks are shown according to their expected probability
of occurrence (in %) and exposure (in EUR). Probability
of occurrence is divided into four classes: very improbable (1% to 10%), improbable (> 10% to 30%), possible
(> 30% to 50%) and probable (> 50%). If the accounting
conditions apply, contingent liabilities are mentioned in
the notes to the financial statements if risks are very
improbable or improbable. For risks whose occurrence
is possible or even probable, provisions or liabilities
are recognised or assets written down - if the accounting conditions apply. Potential losses are classified as
follows: low (≤ 100 EUR thousand), medium (> EUR 100
thousand to EUR 1.0 million), considerable (> EUR 1.0
million to EUR 5.0 million) and critical (> EUR 5.0 million).
The ER Group also distinguishes between gross risks, i.e.
the potential loss before measures are taken to limit the
risk, and net risks. These are the risks after risk-mitigation measures have been taken (including the cost of
such measures, for example, insurance and litigation).
Thereafter, the identified risks are sorted according to
a combination of two dimensions (probability of occurrence and loss amount). These are then divided into relevant risks, risks that have a significant impact on the
expected development of the ER Group and risks threatening its existence. Each risk is assessed critically at
least once a quarter.

The ER Group has a risk management system, the
primary aim of which is to ensure that the corporate
objectives are achieved. This entails meeting statutory
requirements and estimating the probability that opportunities and risks will materialise. Particular attention
is given to risks that endanger the company's existence
and development, but other risks to objectives must also
be identified at an early stage and controlled. Only then
can entrepreneurial activities, which are aimed at seizing opportunities and adding significant value, be given
optimal support and lead to success.

RISK CLASSIFICATION

The ER Group has a centralised risk management system
that covers all the Group's activities, ensures uniform and
methodical processes and provides a detailed picture of
the main risks. The risk management approach in the ER
Group is based on a continuous analysis of its business
activities and the related processes, a prompt analysis
of deviations from plans and permanent communication
between the risk owner, Risk Management and the Executive Board. The systematic identification and measurement of risks, as well as the quantification (exposure) and
assessment of the probability of occurrence are integral
elements of the system. On this basis it is possible to
develop and implement adequate risk management within
the framework of measures to avoid, mitigate, transfer or
accept the risks. A risk owner and a risk manager are
defined for every risk. The risk manager is responsible
for measuring the risk and defining alternative courses of
action and risk management steps. Together with the risk
owner, this person manages all the operational activities 1.4.	ACCOUNTING-BASED INTERNAL CONTROL
concerning this risk. If material changes should occur in
SYSTEM
terms of individual risks, they are communicated without delay by the risk owner to Risk Management and the The accounting-based internal control system used
Executive Board. The report on the risk portfolio is dis- throughout the Group and the risk management system
cussed by Risk Management and the Executive Board and are continuously refined. These two systems govern the
forwarded at least quarterly or, where required, to the organisational, control and monitoring structures, proSupervisory Board of Ernst Russ AG without undue delay. cesses and activities to ensure the accuracy and reliaRisk monitoring is an ongoing process.
bility of internal and external accounting in accordance
with relevant legislation and regulations.
Permanent refinement of the risk management system is an important prerequisite for being able to react The aim of these systems is to completely, promptly
promptly to changes in circumstances. These may have and correctly identify, process, present and document
a direct or indirect impact on the assets, financial posi- all transactions in accordance with statutory provisions,
tion and earnings of the ER Group.
the articles of association and internal guidelines.

The accounting-based internal control and risk management system used throughout the Group covers the pro1.2. RISK CATEGORIES
cesses relevant to the preparation of the separate and
The business activities of the ER Group give rise to the consolidated financial statements for Ernst Russ AG and
following general risk categories: (strategic) risks from all its material subsidiaries. The separation of functions
the market environment, transaction-specific or operat- between departments and the division of responsibilities within departments are key to ensuring the effecing risks, financial risks and compliance risks.
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tiveness of the accounting-based internal control sys- Solid capital base and improved risk structure
tem and the risk management system. Also important The ER Group has had a very solid equity capital base
is the implementation of control processes as defined in recent years with an equity ratio of around 40% to
by statutory provisions, the articles of association, inter- 50%. We therefore see ourselves as being very well
nal instructions and procedures. The system of access equipped for the tasks and business activities ahead. In
rights for the IT system also plays a crucial role. External addition, our efforts to reduce contingent liabilities and
service providers may also be used to implement and risks, which we have been pursuing in recent years, are
also having a positive effect. The disposal of the Invessafeguard the risk management system.
tor Management segment in particular was a major step
towards ensuring the future viability of the ER Group and
included the elimination of potential obligations arising
II. OPPORTUNITIES
from the position as trustee limited partner under SecIdentifying and exploiting opportunities is a central ele- tion 172 (4) of the German Commercial Code and a signifment of the ER Group's strategic focus. The systematic icant reduction in liability risks in respect of information
screening and analysis of developments on the relevant contained in prospectuses. Guarantees and other obligamarkets and the recognition of economic trends form tions reported in the notes to the consolidated financial
the basis for the successful identification of opportuni- statements were down from EUR 14.8 million as of 31
ties. The ER Group aims to make the best possible use of December 2015 to EUR 2.8 million as of 31 December
opportunities as they arise in order to ensure long-term, 2019. In summary, we see very good opportunities for
profitable growth. With this mind, the following opportu- the ER Group to continue its positive development and
successful growth in the market as a result of the develnities should be mentioned:
opments mentioned above.
Long-standing experience
The long-standing shipping and financing expertise, the Existing fleet
prestigious company heritage of ‘Ernst Russ’ and the Over the past five years, the ER Group has steadily
access this provides to international market players, are expanded its portfolio of own vessels and joint venture
investments to a current 28 ships. We want to continue
a key basis for the future success of the ER Group.
to grow in the container, bulker and tanker segments.
We see great opportunities for the ER Group to realise To finance growth, we rely on a combination of existing
further profitable projects and so make the Group even equity, reinvestment of proceeds from ship sales, retentions, joint venture partners, bank financing and the capmore attractive to potential investors.
ital measures possible for a listed company. We pursue a
conservative and sustainable approach to investment. A
Focus
In divesting its Investor Management segment and dis- constantly growing ship portfolio should generate steady
posing of subsidiaries operating in the Solar segment, income, ensuring stable and sustainable earnings and
the ER Group has continued its focussing strategy in added value for shareholders and investors in an underthe reporting year. At the beginning of 2020, the pro- valued asset class.
ject development sites in the Real Estate segment were
also sold. This has led to a pooling of resources with the Lean company organisation
aim of continuously developing well-founded specialist From an organisational perspective, we are pursuing a clear pooling of resources and competences. We
knowledge.
have successfully implemented various measures in
Going forward, we will focus our business activities on this regard in recent years. For example, all sites were
the Shipping segment. Our many years of experience in merged into our new company headquarters in Hamthe maritime sector, excellent market knowledge, our burg and the number of employees has been continuaccess to the capital market and strong partnerships ously adjusted to the size of the company. Flat hierarwill play a crucial role here. Consistent focussing repre- chies also ensure fast response times. Our consistent
sents an essential basis for the success of the ER Group. management of costs has put our company in a position
Even though the shipping market is extremely volatile that offers good prospects for the future.
and is currently also influenced by the corona crisis, we
believe that it still offers very good opportunities for suc- Staff-related opportunities
The ER Group has a highly experienced team from the
cessful growth of the ER Group in the future.
maritime sector as well as a highly motivated and excelThis will be accompanied by fund and asset manage- lently trained team of capital market and financing spement activities. The ER Group can look back on decades cialists. Our employees’ expertise and their identification
of experience in the shipping, real estate and alternative with the company form an essential basis for responding
flexibly and quickly to changing conditions.
investments sectors.
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Our aim is to support our employees in accordance with We do not consider sustainability to be a short-lived
their commitment and abilities and to maintain their trend. Our ESG values are a central guiding principle for
long-term loyalty to our company. We undertake various us and at the same time offer the opportunity to differactivities to boost the dedication, specialist knowledge entiate ourselves from our competitors in a positive way.
and satisfaction of our staff. Frequent occupational and
professional training for all employees is at the heart Stock exchange listing of Ernst Russ AG
of these activities. This also includes the promotion of The commercial strategy of the ER Group requires a
internal top performers to management. Long length of solid equity base and sources of finance. As a reflecservice confirms this approach. Well-trained specialists tion of increasing financing requirements, the ER Group
and managers are a key asset, enabling us to seize and meets the conditions for accessing investors and growth
exploit future market opportunities and to position inno- capital with the listing of the shares of Ernst Russ AG on
the ‘Scale’ segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and
vative solutions and products.
the Mittelstandsbörse (Hanseatic Stock Exchange) and
by meeting the related transparency standards. Since
Strong partners
The shares in Ernst Russ AG are largely held by the 16 December 2019, the Scale segment has been part of
Döhle Group, Hamburg, as of 31 December 2019. The what is known as the ‘SME growth market’. This is a new
close links to this partner are a key success factor for category of multi-lateral trading platforms in Europe
which are designed specifically for small and medithe future strategic development of the ER Group.
um-sized enterprises (‘SME’ for short) and comply with
EU-wide standards. Registration serves in particular to
Consolidation and recovery of shipping markets
The shipping markets are still generally dominated by increase our attractiveness to international investors.
the dislocations caused by the financial market crisis. The general charter rate level is often still not high Ernst Russ AG began to step up its investor relations
enough to sustainably service the costs of outside capi- work in the 2019 financial year. In addition to attending
tal and equity for an investment in a new ship beyond the capital market conferences on a regular basis, we are
expiry of the first charter agreement. Nevertheless, the also planning to embark on equity research. The goal of
charter rate structure in the container segment has nor- all these measures is to increase the visibility of Ernst
malised over the past 18 months and different ship sizes Russ AG.
and specifications are remunerated through appropriate
price differentials. In combination with the correlation
of charter rates to the prices for second-hand vessels, III. RISKS
this results in investment opportunities at low purchase
prices with yields that are attractive in comparison with 1.	STRATEGIC RISKS AND MARKET RISKS
other asset classes in the ongoing low interest rate
phase. The shipping markets are also currently affected Developments on global financial, capital, shipping
by the impact of the corona crisis. However, we assume and real estate markets have a decisive influence on
that the negative influences will balance each other out the commercial development of the ER Group. Not only
over time.
financial crises and trade disputes, but also the fact
that some markets are recovering more slowly than
Thus, the ER Group has opportunities to continue fleet expected, may have a significant influence on the assets,
growth through own investments. Due to its access to financial position and earnings of the ER Group.
the capital market, Ernst Russ AG offers interesting
investment opportunities particularly for professional
and institutional investors.
2.	RISKS IN THE SHIPPING SEGMENT
Sustainable action
We have established the ER Group as a constant on the
shipping market in recent years. We have also made
significant progress in strengthening our activities
in the area of ESG (environment, social, governance)
and achieving sustainable results. We act responsibly
and our goal remains to take sustainability issues into
account in all areas and in all company decisions. In
particular, we support the IMO’s goal of reducing greenhouse gas emissions in international maritime transport
by a total of 40% by 2030.

2.1.	Market risks

Shipping markets have gone through a difficult market phase in recent years. Volatility in recent years has
meant that precise market estimates for charter rates
in individual sectors were barely possible. The spread
of the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, will also have
an impact on the global economy in 2020 as well as
on global trade and in turn also on the shipping markets. We will not be able to assess the full extent and
impact on the shipping markets until the second and
third quarter of 2020 at the earliest. Starting in the third
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quarter, we expect the market to stabilise, partly as a
result of pent-up demand, and we have taken sufficient
precautions to counter the economic impact on our own
fleet. Irrespective of the special effects triggered by the
spread of the coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, the Shipping
segment has continuously stabilised over the past 24
months.
The circumstances described above have a negative
impact on the assets, financial position and earnings of
the ER Group.

2.2.	Risks arising from service agreements

3.

RISKS IN THE REAL ESTATE SEGMENT

Service fees in the Real Estate segment are principally
dependent on the occupancy rates for the properties
under management. Any increase in vacancies would
result in lower fund and asset management revenue.
Higher building and maintenance costs also had a negative impact on the liquidity of real estate funds and
therefore on the recoverability of service fees. There
was also the risk that escalating costs could prevent
the implementation of new projects. Two investments
in equity interests in residential property projects made
in the reporting year were sold in the 2020 financial year
at a profit of EUR 0.2 million. The risks associated with
the inclusion of new projects have therefore not materialised. There are no other activities in the housing construction projects sub-segment and therefore the risk
will not apply going forward.

The ER Group offers various services in the Shipping
segment. Risks arise from the volatility of the shipping
market, the dependence of service fees on future charter
income of the ships under management and the ensuing
uncertainty concerning the amount and duration of the A performance bond of EUR 0.4 million given to the purfees. In addition, there are liability risks from the tech- chaser in the course of a property sale for a real estate
nical management of ships, which can arise from gross company represents a further risk in the Real Estate
negligence resulting in damage to own ships, third- segment. If guarantees are called in, these would be serparty ships, port facilities etc. Unreliability, cash flow viced firstly by the primary guarantors and then by Ernst
difficulties or insolvency on the part of subcontractors Russ AG. A claim is not expected.
may also lead to contractual penalties for poor performance. The ER Group addresses this risk by choosing The circumstances described above may have a negative
crew members carefully and by ensuring professional impact on the assets, financial position and earnings of
management and the careful selection of sub-managers. the ER Group.
Fully comprehensive insurance is also of vital importance in this segment. Despite taking risk mitigation
measures and the greatest possible care, if the risks 4. OTHER OPERATING RISKS
described above should materialise, this would have an
impact on the assets, financial position and earnings of 4.1.	Risks in connection with claims for damages
the ER Group.
Following the disposal of the former trust services
and distribution companies in the ER Group, claims by
investors for the rescission of investments and dam2.3.	Risks in connection with proprietary investments
ages against companies in the ER Group - based on their
and equity interests in the Shipping segment
status as founding partners of the funds - amounted to
around
EUR 22.6 million as at 31 December 2019 (previThe operation of ships as proprietary investments
means that the ER Group is exposed to the specific ous year: EUR 120 million). Legal action has been taken
risks associated with them. A deterioration of the ship- for approximately EUR 22.4 million (previous year: EUR
ping markets has a negative impact on charter rates and 116 million). The extent to which claims will be successthus on the earnings of the Ernst Russ Group. Unfore- ful is evaluated monthly as part of the risk management
seen damage and necessary repairs may also have a process. As of 31 December 2019, the enforceability of
negative impact on the earnings of the Ernst Russ Group. liability risks in respect of information contained in proIn addition, the value of ships may fall, which can lead to spectuses of EUR 13.0 million is estimated to be very
unscheduled amortisation and lower sales revenue than unlikely and of EUR 9.6 million to be unlikely. As of 31
expected. The ER Group addresses this risk by charter- December 2019, no provisions were formed for liabiling to well-known, experienced freight forwarders and ity risks in respect of information contained in prospecthrough proactive management and controlling of the tuses (previous year: EUR 0.3 million).
ship portfolio. In addition to equity from the ER Group,
the ships are also financed by bank loans (see Section The ER Group is defending itself against these claims
and will take legal action to recover any damages if
5 ‘Financial risks’).
appropriate. At the present time, however, it cannot be
ruled out that individual investors might be successful
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with their claims against companies in the ER Group.
This could mean accepting the return of interests in
the fund against repayment of the investment amount,
including interest, paying compensation for lost earnings and incurring the corresponding court and legal
fees. Further claims for damages can also not be ruled
out. If a significant portion of the risks in connection with
claims for damages should materialise contrary to the
current assessment of enforceability, and the defensive measures should not have the desired effect, this
could have a considerably negative impact on the assets,
financial position and earnings of the ER Group. The
same applies if the existing insurance cover is cancelled
or the respective losses are not covered by insurance.

4.2.	Income and liquidity risks from contingent liabilities

latent risk of claims under one of these company guarantees evolves depends to a large extent on the income
generated in future by the underlying assets, which are
mainly ship funds. These are continuously reviewed and
evaluated by Risk Management. The current liquidity and
earnings forecasts suggest that claims are possible. A
provision of EUR 1.2 million (previous year: EUR 1.3 million) has been recognised for the risk that some of the
guarantees are called in.
In the course of distributing funds, the ER Group has
incurred contingent liabilities in a large number of cases.
In the current environment there is a risk that it will be
exposed to claims. Should they occur, the circumstances
described above could have a significant negative impact
on the assets, financial position and earnings of the ER
Group. There is a maximum risk of EUR 2.4 million (previous year: EUR 2.4 million).

In accordance with the liquidity and distribution forecasts included in the prospectuses at the time, regular payments were made to investors and the investing 4.4.	Earnings and liquidity risks in connection with equity
companies in the ER Group (generally in the early phase
interests and financing arrangements
of the funds), which were not covered by corresponding statutory accounting profits (hereafter referred to The ER Group holds interests in various joint ventures
as ‘liquidity distributions’). In this case, there is a risk and minority interests, including in funds and joint venthat limited partners entered in the commercial regis- tures with international partners. These equity interests
ter, which may include primarily trust companies, but in were tested for impairment as of the reporting date and
some cases, also investors, may be liable in accordance written down as necessary in individual cases. In most
with Sections 171 and 172 (4) of the German Commercial cases, the reason for the impairment was the volatile
Code (HGB). The total amount of liquidity distributions shipping markets. Further write-downs cannot be ruled
(Sections 171, 172 (4) HGB) made to ER Group compa- out in the years ahead, however. The ER Group monitors
nies in the past and shown in the 2018 Annual Report its equity interests regularly in order to identify these
was EUR 233 million. The amount of repayable liquidity risks at an early stage.
distributions carrying risk was estimated at around EUR
15.0 million as at 31 December 2018 for the funds where In addition, the ER Group has individual equity investthe ER Group cannot currently rule out claims. This risk ments and loans in special purpose vehicles in connecno longer applies on account of the disposal of the trust tion with the warehousing of ships and management of
companies.
liquidities for the properties. These equity interests and
loans were tested for impairment as of the reporting
The acquisition costs of fund interests held by compa- date. In future, there is a general risk that income from
nies in the ER Group on their own account were reduced the funds may decline if market conditions deteriorate or
by EUR 2.8 million (previous year: EUR 3.9 million) in the legal and tax environment is changed. Further writethe consolidated financial statements as of 31 December downs may then become necessary. For example, legal
2019 to reflect liability claims in accordance with Sec- changes could result from international endeavours to
tions 171 and 172 (4) HGB. Claims could have a negative reduce the environmental pollution caused by maritime
impact on the financial position of the ER Group.
shipping. The circumstances described above could continue to have a negative impact on the assets, financial
position and earnings of the ER Group.
4.3.	Risks from contingent liabilities in the context of
product guarantees
4.5.	Risks in connection with the disposal of the Investor

In order to secure its products as intended, the ER Group
has given guarantees to banks, which in turn guarantee the repayment of invested capital for these guaranteed products. These company guarantees match
the terms of the bank guarantees. The guarantees are
partly backed by bearer bonds and zero bonds. How the

Management segment

In the course of disposing of its Investor Management
business, Ernst Russ AG has given various seller guarantees and released purchasers from various types of
risk. These liability risks are limited in terms of amount,
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but if they occur, they could have a negative impact on 4.7. Information technology risks
the income and liquidity position of the ER Group. Provisions of EUR 0.2 million have been recognised for some The ER Group has implemented numerous security
of the liability risks.
measures to minimise the risks of system downtime.
They include virtualising all servers and making regular
Ernst Russ AG has agreed repayment in the medium backups of virtual machines, using a backup strategy that
term of the purchase price receivable under the PECURA includes mirroring the backups in a different location, and
Anleger- und Treuhandservice GmbH share transfer emergency plans including a disaster recovery concept.
agreement. There is a risk that the repayments will To protect the IT systems and data, the Group uses access
be late or defaulted on entirely thus having a negative control systems and encryption software for hard drives
impact on the assets, financial position and earnings of and personal data files that leave the immediate control
of the ER Group. This applies to the use of security-critical
the ER Group.
network data, firewalls, LAN port control, USB port conPrior to the disposal of the Investor Management seg- trol, antivirus programs and systems for URL filtering and
ment, the ER Group had various types of internal Group intrusion prevention. If it materialises, the risk described
receivables, which were shown in the consolidated above could have a negative impact on the assets, finanfinancial statements on deconsolidation of the compa- cial position and earnings of the ER Group.
nies sold. These receivables were converted into a loan
and a medium-term repayment agreement was reached.
Late payments or default on the repayments would have 4.8. Reputational risks
a negative impact on the assets, financial position and
earnings of the ER Group.
One premise for the success of the ER Group is its reputation and the trust of clients and business partners
Service agreements are in place between the ER Group in the professionalism of its staff and the quality of its
and PECURA Anleger- und Treuhandservice GmbH based products and services. The financial failure of a single
on which the ER Group provides asset management ser- fund, capital investment or service - regardless of the
vices. There is also a risk in this respect that future fees reasons for its performance - can result in reputational
will be paid late or defaulted on.
damage. To avoid reputational damage in particular,
the ER Group has implemented high-quality fund conThe recoverability of the various receivables as well as trol. Despite these measures, further significant negafuture fees arising from service agreements is depend- tive effects on the profitability of individual funds and
ent in particular on the economic situation of the trust capital investments cannot be ruled out. Averting these
companies sold. At present, the various receivables and risks calls for detailed restructuring concepts involving
future fees arising from service agreements are esti- all the parties concerned.
mated to be recoverable in full.
The matters described above have an influence on the
reputation of the ER Group, with correspondingly negative
effects on its future assets, financial position and
4.6. Staff risks
earnings.
The success and sustainability of the ER Group's business is based on well-qualified, committed and motivated employees. If these productive and qualified 5.	FINANCIAL RISKS
employees were to leave the company, this would have
a serious impact. Some employees resigned over the 5.1. General financing risks
course of 2019 and were not replaced or their responsibilities were reassigned. Focussed and effective steps The quality of the investment strategies depends to
have already been taken to ensure the availability of a large extent on selecting and financing adequate
human resources in the ER Group. Frequent occupa- investment assets. The fundamental changes in financtional and professional training and career development ing terms and opportunities and the banks' restrictive
for all employees are at the heart of these activities. If lending policies for pre-funding equity commitments
they materialise, the risks described above could have and bridge financing mean that such arrangements
a negative impact on the assets, financial position and will probably not be available in the medium and long
earnings of the ER Group.
term. The focus will therefore increasingly be on warehousing investment assets along with financially sound
partners. The change in financing conditions makes
it harder for the ER Group to warehouse investment
assets and generate growth. If they materialise, the
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financing risks described above could have a negative
impact on the assets, financial position and earnings
of the ER Group.

5.4. Interest rate risk

The ER Group is generally exposed to interest rate risk
in connection with loans it has made, interest-bearing
receivables and the loans taken out at floating rates of
interest to refinance these assets. The ER Group cur5.2.	Risks in connection with existing financing
rently has no interest rate hedges, as the absolute risk
arrangements
is low when the loan is refinanced at the same maturity;
or in other words, when the cost-benefit ratio of the
Liabilities to banks increased significantly by EUR
31.8 million to EUR 54.1 million in the reporting year hedging transaction is unattractive. Interest rate risks
due to the expansion of the own fleet. Extensive collat- also exist in connection with existing fleet financing as
eral is usually required by the financing banks in order in most cases the interest rates are based on LIBOR
that financing can be offered: ship mortgages and the rates. If US dollar interest rates go up, this could have
assignment of all charter income, insurance payments an adverse effect on the assets, financial position and
and other income. In addition, loan agreements contain earnings of the ER Group.
various standard covenants, in particular the obligation
not to exceed a fixed ratio of the ship’s market value to
the current loan portfolio (LTV). If these covenants are 5.5.	Risks in relation to the use of financial instruments
not complied with, for example, if the market value of the
ship falls, the ER Group runs the risk of having to provide There are currently no risks associated with the use of
further collateral, enter into guarantees or make special financial instruments since no such instruments curpayments. Furthermore, shipping companies are usually rently exist.
required to maintain a minimum liquidity reserve, which
is tied up over the service life of the ship and is not available for alternative investments, as distributions from 6. COMPLIANCE RISKS
the shipping companies are also often linked to good
performance of the ships. If they materialise, the risks The activities of the ER Group are subject to various legal
associated with existing financing described above could regulations and internal company guidelines. To manhave a negative impact on the assets, financial position age the identified compliance risks, the ER Group has
and earnings of the ER Group.
implemented codes of conduct and process instructions
that are applicable across the Group. In functional terms,
The ER Group is trying as far as possible to set itself the guidelines and process instructions cover the hanup to be largely independent of bank loans. Significant dling of confidential information, data protection, money
amounts of borrowing are only completed after exten- laundering, IT security and gifts to business partners
sive reviews. They must have compelling advantages for and employees.
the ER Group in connection with future earnings potential, after weighing up all the risks and opportunities.
The handling of confidential information is of particular importance at Ernst Russ AG. It is therefore always
conducted with the greatest possible care. The ER Group
has great trust in its staff. This trust is based on the
5.3. Exchange rate risk
employees' tremendous sense of responsibility. They
An exchange rate risk arises especially when receiv- handle company data and strategic information in strict
ables or liabilities or signed contracts exist in a cur- confidence. At the same time, the ER Group has set itself
rency other than the functional currency of the ER the goal of continuing the open company policy practised
Group company concerned. In this case, exchange rate in recent years and of communicating with investors and
fluctuations can alter the value of the receivables and the general public in ways that go beyond its obligation
liabilities in the functional currency and so effect earn- to make public announcements. Of course the staff are
ings and the financial position. Changes in the exchange instructed to treat all commercial secrets in absolute
rate between the US dollar and the euro are particu- confidence.
larly relevant for the ER Group's business. Exchange
rate hedges may be taken out in individual cases to The reputation and the economic success of the ER
reduce these risks. The expansion of the Group’s own Group could be severely compromised by compliance
fleet of ships and the associated debt financing mean breaches, which is absolutely to be avoided. By strengththat liabilities now exist in US dollars, which may have ening and continuously refining the internal control
an adverse effect on the assets, financial position and system, the compliance requirements are increasingly
earnings of the ER Group if the US dollar unexpectedly being integrated into operational business and financial
processes and verified. This makes it possible to idengains in value against the euro.
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tify areas where controls are weak and include them product will now only increase 0.1% in the current year
as risks in the risk management system. In the exist- compared with 2.6% in the previous year. Europe and
ing structures, the risks are managed and controlled by the USA in particular will contribute to this, while activtheir respective risk owners on an ongoing basis. None- ity in China and South Korea will pick up again slightly.
theless, it cannot be ruled out that the risks described According to forecasts by the Munich-based institute, a
above might materialise - with a correspondingly nega- gradual process of recovery will begin from summer
tive impact on the assets, financial position and earnings 2020 with just under 2% growth in the third quarter and
1.7% in the fourth quarter. The ifo Institute believes that
of the ER Group.
after 2019 global trade will also be severely affected
falling 1.7%.
7.	OVERALL STATEMENT ON THE RISK SITUATION OF
THE ER GROUP

The assessment of the risk situation of the ER Group is
the result of evaluating all the significant individual risks
and risk categories. Due to the expansion of the Group’s
own fleet of ships in the reporting year, the development of the international shipping markets has had a
crucial influence on the risk situation of the ER Group.
Conversely, the disposal of the Investor Management
segment has considerably improved the risk situation,
particularly with regard to the liability risks in respect of
information contained in prospectuses and obligations
under Sections 171 and 171 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The ER Group has initiated appropriate
and suitable measures to address all known risks. In the
present opinion of the Executive Board there are no risks
to the continued existence of the ER Group. Overall, the
sale of 29 Group companies has significantly improved
the risk situation of the ER Group.

At the beginning of 2020, the economic institutes were
still cautiously optimistic in their assessment of economic momentum in Germany. However, it is now likely
that the measures taken as a result of the corona crisis
will lead to a large-scale collapse of economic trends.
According to an estimate by the ifo Institute at the end of
March 2020, the German economy is expected to experience a loss of growth of between 7.2 and 20.6 percentage
points depending on the duration of the shutdown.

At the end of reporting period, the European Central
Bank's (ECB) reference exchange rate for the euro
against the US dollar (USD) was set at USD 1.1234 per
euro. A year ago, most currency experts predicted a
weaker exchange rate leading to a depreciation in value
of the US dollar in 2019. In fact, the US dollar gained just
over 2% against the euro as it benefited from high economic uncertainty, which led many investors to prefer
investments in the dollar zone. Deutsche Bank has also
identified positive factors to date: The stabilisation of the
global economy, fiscal measures, a Brexit without further
surprises on the negative side and political uncertainties in the course of the election campaign in the USA
1.5. FORECAST
could cause the common currency to rise to USD 1.15.
The impact of the corona crisis cannot yet be estimated.
Macroeconomic environment
According to the leading economic institutes, the slow- Exchange rate fluctuations in EUR/USD may change the
down in global economic growth that began in 2018 value of receivables and liabilities in the functional curcontinued in 2019. Positive trends that became appar- rency and influence the earnings and financial position
ent at the beginning of 2020 were masked by current of the ER Group.
developments relating to the novel coronavirus, SARSCoV-2. The pandemic has gradually brought public life to Following the third interest rate cut in a row since July
a standstill and has already left its mark in all areas of 2019, the key interest rate of the US Federal Reserve
the economy. According to expert opinions, it is almost (Fed) was in the 1.5 to 1.75% band. The US Federal
impossible at this point in time to make an accurate pre- Reserve has taken emphatic measures during the
diction of the economic impact, as there is a great deal corona crisis: At the beginning of March 2020, the US
of uncertainty regarding the further spread of the virus Federal Reserve lowered interest rates by 0.5 percentand the measures taken by governments. Furthermore, age points to between 1.0 and 1.25% and, in mid-March
very few economic indicators are currently available and 2020, it cut the key interest rate by a full percentage
there is a lack of historical experience with comparable point to between 0.0 and 0.25%. It also announced a
events on which to base conceivable scenarios of how package of measures in conjunction with other central
banks which consists of a USD 700 billion bond purchase
the crisis will develop.
programme and temporary emergency loans.
According to calculations by the Munich-based ifo Institute, the global economy will suffer considerable con- Shipping markets
sequences as a result of the corona crisis. According to At the beginning of 2020, according to the predominant
a study published in March 2020, global gross domestic opinion of all the market players, the substantive con-
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ditions (supply and demand) for container, tanker and
bulk shipping were regarded as favourable with further
stabilising effects on the charter income to be generated.
The market was due to be shaped by the effects and consequences of the IMO 2020 regulation and the ongoing
installation of scrubbers.
However, with the increasing spread of coronavirus,
SARS-CoV-2, since February 2020, these stabilising
effects, which can be justified by underlying data, are
no longer entirely certain. The price difference between
the various fuels, which was still high at the beginning of
2020, made investment in a scrubber seem worthwhile
and profitable, especially for ships owned by shipping
lines. These advantages have been largely eroded with
the significant drop in oil prices at the end of the first
quarter of 2020. The drastic efforts by the Chinese government to contain the spread of the virus by closing factories for several weeks in January and February 2020
and only a gradual start up of production from March
2020 onwards has had a disruptive effect on all ship segments, as the value chain starting with the supply of raw
materials (bulkers and tankers), through project cargo
(multi-purpose) and on to the shipment of finished goods
(containers) has been severely disrupted.
Since mid-March 2020, the global spread of the virus has
also severely restricted economic activity and public life,
particularly in Europe and the USA. In addition to the significantly smaller flow of goods from Asia compared with

the equivalent period in the previous year, the measures
taken to contain the SARS-Cov2 pandemic are leading
to a significant decline in demand in all sectors of the
economy, with lasting effects on global flows of goods
and supply chains. We will not be able to comprehensively assess the full extent and impact on the shipping
markets until the second and third quarter of 2020 at the
earliest. In terms of interregional Asian traffic, we are
seeing the first signs of a revival and stabilisation of the
shipping industry. Once the measures taken in the western industrial nations to limit the pandemic are lifted, we
expect a gradual recovery in global demand, due also to
pent-up demand, with an incipient revival of the shipping
and charter markets. Ernst Russ AG has taken appropriate precautionary measures to counteract the economic
effects on its own fleet as far as possible.
Container ships with an overall tonnage of approximately 1.13 million TEU are expected to be delivered in
2020. Taking into account the fleet disposals of approximately 0.3 million TEU, the fleet growth forecast for
2020 is around 3.5%, which corresponds to a slightly
slower growth rate than in the previous year.
For the bulker fleet, we are expecting a lower growth
rate of 3.7% (4% in 2019). The chartering brokers are
expecting a sustained stabilising effect on the market
resulting from the installation of scrubber systems.
Lower cruising speeds and rising scrappage activity
could also influence the market.
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In the tanker market, demand is expected to grow by fleet. By selling and replacing older vessels, we aim to
3.8% in 2020 (0.5% in 2019) with comparatively high fleet rejuvenate the fleet portfolio in the medium term.
growth of 3.4% (compared with 4% in 2019). The general
outlook for the tanker market is regarded as positive Real estate markets
with a favourable supply/demand ratio. A positive effect The development of the national real estate market in
from the installation of scrubbers is also expected in particular has an influence on the Group’s assets, finanthis segment (around 1.6% of the tanker fleet will be cial position and earnings. However, this has diminished
temporarily withdrawn from the market). Furthermore, significantly compared with the previous year due to the
as crude oil prices have fallen, there has been a signif- sale of the two housing construction projects and all the
icant increase in ‘floating storage’ under the IMO 2020 Group's directly held properties. The realisation of fees
regulation, as well as US sanctions against Iran, which for fund, asset and property management services as
has further tightened supply. These effects are tempo- well as the recoverability of equity interests are affected.
rary and very much depend on short-term stimuli and
At the beginning of the year, it was assumed that Gerchanges in the oil market.
many would remain an attractive market for real estate
The impact of the trade dispute between the USA and investors in 2020. Experts assumed that the developChina, which has dominated previous years, is fairly ment seen in previous years, which was characterised
negligible compared with the current developments sur- by rising prices for real estate and rents, would probably
rounding the spread of the SARS-Cov2 virus. In their own continue, albeit less dynamically.
interests, both parties will continue to seek a mutually
beneficial agreement in the medium term that will sta- However, the downturn in the overall economic situation
bilise both economies. In the USA, this should fulfil an in connection with the coronavirus pandemic in 2020 will
election promise made earlier in the 2020 election year. also have an impact on the real estate markets. These
China will want to counter its declining economic output risks cannot yet be finally assessed in terms of their
which will also be negatively affected by the US-Chinese impact on liquidity and earnings. The coronavirus crisis
conflict and the effects of the coronavirus. The stimuli threatens defaults on rent by people who currently have
for the global economy that are expected as a result will no income or shop rents by retailers who have to keep
also have a stabilising effect on the development of the their shops closed. Operators of shopping malls and restaurant owners as well as the hotel industry will also be
shipping markets.
hit particularly hard.
The disruptive impact of the coronavirus pandemic on
all markets is the result of the unprecedented influence In contrast to the capital markets, experience shows
of the spread of the SARS Cov2 virus, the like and scope that economic crises have a delayed impact on the real
of which has not been witnessed in recent history, and estate market. How badly the pandemic can affect the
the measures necessary to contain the pandemic. Com- real estate market will also depend on how long the cripared with previous crises, the global economy was in a sis lasts.
comparatively robust condition until the outbreak of the
virus. The shipping segment had been stable over the Estimate by the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG
on the performance of the ER Group in the upcoming
past 24 months until the end of 2019.
financial year
Consequently, we believe that the fundamental condi- In the 2020 financial year, the Shipping segment will
tions (supply and demand) for container, tanker and bulk be the most important pillar of our business activities.
shipping, which will have a positive effect in the medium
to long-term, will continue to apply. We therefore expect Against the backdrop of the current major uncertainties
significant stabilising effects on the charter income to be in the shipping market due to the coronavirus crisis, the
generated in the ship classes that are relevant for Ernst Shipping segment will focus on successful management
Russ AG from the fourth quarter of 2020 onwards when and securing the continuation of existing investments.
global economic activity resumes. The charter rates Once the market situation has stabilised, we will again
that it will then be possible to achieve will make invest- regularly review investments in ship projects in order to
ments in technically up-to-date second-hand vessels at further expand the existing fleet. According to forecasts,
favourable cost prices feasible, whereas new building the Shipping segment is expected to be the ER Group's
projects will only make sense in very specific individual strongest segment in terms of revenue in the 2020 financases. For this reason, the Ernst Russ Group, together cial year, irrespective of the inclusion of further assets
with partners, if necessary, will again regularly exam- and the effects of the coronavirus crisis. Overall, reveine investments in further ship projects in the container, nue in this segment will increase significantly compared
bulker and tanker segments once the market situation with the previous year. This increase is due mainly to
has stabilised, in order to gradually expand the existing the investments made in the course of the reporting year
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as well as the first-time consolidation of Elbfeeder Inc.
and its seven single ship subsidiaries and, in terms of its
development, depends to a large extent on the impact of
the coronavirus crisis on the shipping markets.
In the Real Estate segment, the real estate activities of
the ER Group are largely concentrated in the subsidiary,
Assetando Real Estate GmbH. Two investments made
in the reporting year in equity interests in residential
property projects were sold at the beginning of the year.
As revenue in the reporting year was heavily influenced
by the successful sale of the Group's directly held property in Essen, segment revenue will decline significantly.
Moreover, in the Alternative Investments segment,
the ER Group manages other investment assets which
are not assigned to the Shipping and Real Estate asset
classes. As result of selling individual Group companies
and contracts from this segment in the course of the
past financial year, revenue will decrease moderately
compared with the previous year.

appropriate and suitable steps to counter all known
risks and to ensure the Group's continued existence.
The average headcount for the ER Group will again be
significantly lower due to the more streamlined organisational structure.
Because of the uncertainties described above, the ER
Group is focused on securing liquidity for the 2020 financial year. Taking the above scenarios and the measures
derived from them into account, it can be assumed that
cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2020 will at least
remain constant compared with 31 December 2019 and
consequently the ER Group will always be in a position
to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.
For the forecast for Ernst Russ AG, please refer to Section 1.2.V.

1.6. OTHER DISCLOSURES
As already described, we expect the coronavirus pandemic to have a disruptive effect on the shipping markets.
However, this effect cannot be reliably quantified at pres- DECLARATION BY THE EXECUTIVE BOARD IN
ent, but will have a negative impact on revenue growth in ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 312 (3) OF THE
the Shipping segment. In order to counter these insecu- GERMAN STOCK CORPORATION ACT (AKTG)
rities, we have developed various scenarios for revenue
performance in the 2020 financial year based on budgets. In accordance with Section 312 AktG, the Executive
Ultimately, revenue across all segments will be slightly Board of Ernst Russ AG has prepared a dependent comto moderately below the previous year's level.
pany report for all related-party transactions in 2019.
In order to cope with market conditions, the ER Group The report includes the following closing declaration
has taken comprehensive and successful steps to save by the Executive Board: ‘Judging by the circumstances
costs in the reporting year and previous years, which known to the Executive Board at the time the transacwere necessary to establish a lean organisation. We tion was completed, Ernst Russ AG, Hamburg received
were well below our budget targets in 2019. As part of a appropriate consideration for the related-party transacstructured process, a cost-conscious budget was drawn tions listed in the report on affiliated companies. No steps
up for the 2020 financial year and adjusted to the devel- were taken or omitted on the instructions or in the interopment of our earnings potential.
ests of the controlling company or one of its affiliates.’
Based on the various scenarios for revenue performance expected in the 2020 financial year, we have
also mapped the development of operating earnings
(earnings before neutral result, net interest and investment income and taxes) in various scenarios and thus
within a possible range, given cost expectations largely
determined by budgets. Accordingly, the operating
earnings of the ER Group will be moderately to significantly below the previous year's level and at the upper
end of the range in the positive low single-digit million
range. Depending on the duration and intensity of the
further development of the coronavirus crisis and the
resulting effects on the shipping markets, the operating
earnings of the ER Group may also be negative in the
low single-digit million range at the lower end of the
range. Based on these scenarios, the ER Group has taken

Hamburg, 17 April 2020

Robert Gärtner
CEO of Ernst Russ AG
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (1/1 – 31/12/2019)

IN EUR THOUSAND

NOTE*

1/1/ – 31/12/2019

1/1/ – 31/12/2018

(11)

58,793

52,705

-729

100

7,881

19,072

-7,119

-6,247

-25,327

-16,832

a) Wages and salaries

-8,878

-13,281

b) Social security contributions, retirement and other benefits

-1,496

-1,981

a) on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

-5,953

-8,019

b) on current assets, to the extent that they exceed the normal level
for the company

-1,421

-1,254

-12,000

-17,704

91

-1,495

1,824

2,868

18

0

1. Revenue
2. Decrease (previous year: increase) in unfinished products
3. Other operating income

(12)

4. Cost of materials and services

(13)

a) Raw materials, consumables and supplies
b) Purchased services
5. Personnel expenses

- of which for retirement benefits EUR 102 thousand
(previous year: EUR 108 thousand)
6. Depreciation

7. Other operating expenses

(14)

(15)

8. Net income from investments in associates
9. Income from equity interests
- of which from affiliates EUR 697 thousand
(previous year: EUR 894 thousand)
10. Income from loans held as financial assets
11. Other interest and similar income

(16)

1,673

1,710

12. Amortisation of financial assets and current securities

(17)

-1,151

-2,012

13. Interest and similar expenses

(18)

-2,734

-1,507

14. Income taxes

(19)

-1,706

368

1,766

6,491

-66

-108

1,700

6,383

-181

-167

1,519

6,216

20. Profit carried forward

10,568

4,352

21. Consolidated net income

12,087

10,568

- of which expenses due to changes in deferred taxes EUR 160
thousand (previous year: income of EUR 1,785 thousand)
15. Earnings after tax
16. Other taxes
17.	Consolidated net income including non-controlling interests
18. Consolidated net profit attributable to non-controlling interests
19.	Consolidated net income after non-controlling interests

(20)

*This figure relates to the notes to the consolidated income statement.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
ASSETS IN EUR THOUSAND
A. Fixed assets

NOTE*

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

(4)

123,779

59,685

3,020

7,381

I. Intangible assets
1. Purchased service agreements
		

2. Purchased concessions and licences

		

3. Goodwill
4. Down payments made

414

545

3,812

5,118

0

80

103,869

22,042

II. Property, plant and equipment
		

1. Ships
2. Buildings on third-party land

53

60

3. Other equipment, operating and office equipment

74

170

1. Interests in affiliated companies

1,036

1,050

2. Investments in associates

2,978

9,230

3. Equity interests

4,893

12,487

4. Loans to investees and investors

3,313

1,343

17

179

III. Financial assets
		

5. Non-current securities
6. Other loans
B. Current assets

300

0

23,331

41,777

I. Inventories
		

1. Raw materials, consumables and supplies
2. Unfinished services
3. Land and buildings held for sale

II. Receivables and other assets
2. Receivables from affiliates
3. Receivables from investees and investors
4. Other assets
III. Other securities
IV. Cash at hand and bank balances

730

0

6,000

2,631

5,613

81

84

804

4,805

8,467

7,736

131

127

10,008

16,487

C. Prepaid expenses

693

587

D. Deferred tax assets

911

1,358

148,714

103,407

NOTE*

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

(6)

68,749

51,095

32,434

32,434

Total equity and liabilities

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES IN EUR THOUSAND
A. Equity
I. Subscribed capital
II.  Capital reserves

6,657

6,657

III. Accounting profit

12,087

10,568

IV. Other comprehensive income
V.  Non-controlling interests
B. Negative goodwill

(7)

C. Provisions
1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
		

2. Provisions for taxes

		

3. Other provisions

D. Liabilities
1. Liabilities to banks
		

2. Payments received on account
3. Trade payables
4. Liabilities to affiliates

(8)

239

21

17,332

1,415

678

902

9,035

16,474

1,722

1,803

1,515

4,054

(9)

5,798

10,617

(10)

69,451

30,899

54,225

22,318

10

468

3,140

1,702

44

44

5. Liabilities to investees and investors

5,240

1,104

6. Other liabilities

6,792

5,263

581

1,860

E. Deferred income
F. Deferred tax liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
* This figure relates to the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.
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(5)

1. Trade receivables
		

1,208

220

2,177

148,714

103,407
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR THOUSAND

1/1/ - 31/12/2019

1/1/ - 31/12/2018

Consolidated net income for the period including non-controlling interests

1,700

6,383

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment charges and write-backs on fixed assets

6,689

9,510

-2,773

-3,503

Other non-cash expenses/income

1,132

-3,834

Decrease/increase in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not attributable to
investing or financing activities

8,382

5,177

Decrease/increase in trade payables and other equity and liabilities not attributable to
investing or financing activities

-1,570

-6,327

-195

-1,358

Interest expenses/income

1,061

-203

Other investment income

-1,824

-2,868

1,706

-368

Income tax payments

-2,059

-3,592

Cash flow from operating activities

12,249

-983

-225

-54

Cash inflows from the disposal of property, plant and equipment

25

7

Cash outflows for investments in property, plant and equipment

-13,103

-94

8,653

7,926

Cash outflows for investments in financial assets and other current assets

-5,008

-6,357

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to disposals from the group
of consolidated companies

-3.100

0

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to additions to the group
of consolidated companies

-4.761

-1.185

166

232

1,512

2,302

-15,841

2,777

858

12

-125

-128

12,284

0

-13,450

-2,005

Interest paid

-2,355

-1,191

Cash flow from financing activities

-2,788

-3,312

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

-6,380

-1,518

-99

118

0

132

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

16,487

17,755

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

10,008

16,487

Decrease in provisions

Gains (+)/ losses (-) on the disposal of fixed assets

Income tax expense/income

Cash outflows for investments in intangible assets

Cash inflows from disposals of financial assets

Interest received
Dividends received
Cash flow from investing activities
Cash inflows from capital contributions from other shareholders
Cash outflows to other shareholders due to reduction of equity
Cash inflows from the issuing of bonds and taking up of finance facilities
Cash outflows from the repayment of bonds and borrowing

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rates
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in the group of consolidated
companies

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents corresponds to the balance sheet item of the same name and consists largely of bank balances.
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CHANGES IN GROUP EQUITY
EQUITY OF THE

IN EUR THOUSAND

CAPITAL RESERVES

SECTION 272 (2)
NO. 1-3 HGB

SECTION 272 (2)
NO. 4 HGB

TOTAL

32,434

5,695

962

6,657

Consolidated net profit

0

0

0

0

Currency translation

0

0

0

0

Changes in the consolidated
group of companies

0

0

0

0

Total

0

0

0

0

As at 31/12/2018

32,434

5,695

962

6,657

As at 1/1/2019

32,434

5,695

962

6,657

Consolidated net profit

0

0

0

0

Currency translation

0

0

0

0

Changes in the consolidated
group of companies

0

0

0

0

Total

0

0

0

0

32,434

5,695

962

6,657

As at 1/1/2018

As at 31/12/2019
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NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

GROUP EQUITY

TOTAL

EQUALISATION ITEMS
FOR NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

TOTAL

PARENT COMPANY

GROUP EQUITY
GENERATED

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

ACCOUNTING
PROFIT/ACCOUNTING LOSS

EQUALISATION ITEMS FOR
TRANSLATION OF ACCOUNTS
IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

4,352

48

43,491

1,365

44,856

6,216

0

6,216

167

6,383

0

-27

-27

0

-27

0

0

0

-117

-117

6,216

-27

6,189

50

6,239

10,568

21

49,680

1,415

51,095

10,568

21

49,680

1,415

51,095

1,519

0

1,519

181

1,700

0

218

218

0

218

0

0

0

15,736

15,736

1,519

218

1,737

15,917

17,654

12,087

239

51,417

17,332

68,749
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SCHEDULE OF FIXED ASSETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2019

CHANGE IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ACQUISITION COSTS
IN EUR THOUSAND

1/1/2019

ADDITION

RECLASSIFICATIONS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

Purchased service agreements

23,095

0

0

-7,568

15,527

Purchased concessions
and licences

67,035

108

80

-306

66,917

8,282

206

0

-798

7,690

Down payments made

80

0

-80

0

0

Total intangible assets

98,492

314

0

-8,672

90,134

Goodwill

CHANGE IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
ACQUISITION COSTS
IN EUR THOUSAND
Ships
Buildings on third-party land
Other equipment, operating and
office equipment
Total property, plant and equipment

1/1/2019

ADDITION

RECLASSIFICATIONS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

23,301

85,028

0

0

108,329

321

0

0

-1

320

3,866

57

0

-1,283

2,640

27,488

85,085

0

-1,284

111,289

CHANGE IN FINANCIAL ASSETS
ACQUISITION COSTS
IN EUR THOUSAND

1/1/2019

ADDITION

RECLASSIFICATIONS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

2,102

342

0

-271

2,173

Investments in associates

20,607

2,300

0

-8,169

14,738

Equity interests

43,500

608

0

-33,888

10,220

8,031

2,251

0

-272

10,010

415

0

0

-117

298

0

300

0

0

300

74,655

5,801

0

-42,717

37,739

200,635

91,200

0

-52,673

239,162

Interests in affiliated companies

Loans to investees and investors
Non-current securities
Other loans
Total financial assets
Total
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CUMULATIVE AMORTISATION

CARRYING AMOUNT

1/1/2019

DEPRECIATION

WRITE-UPS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

-15,714

-1,860

0

5,067

-12,507

3,020

7,381

-66,490

-95

0

82

-66,503

414

545

-3,164

-714

0

0

-3,878

3,812

5,118

0

0

0

0

0

0

80

-85,368

-2,669

0

5,149

-82,888

7,246

13,124

CUMULATIVE AMORTISATION

CARRYING AMOUNT

1/1/2019

DEPRECIATION

WRITE-UPS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

-1,259

-3,201

0

0

-4,460

103,869

22,042

-261

-6

0

0

-267

53

60

-3,696

-77

0

1,207

-2,566

74

170

-5,216

-3,284

0

1,207

-7,293

103,996

22,272

CUMULATIVE AMORTISATION

CARRYING AMOUNT

1/1/2019

DEPRECIATION

WRITE-UPS

DISPOSAL

31/12/2019

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

-1,052

-85

0

0

-1,137

1,036

1,050

-11,377

-383

0

0

-11,760

2,978

9,230

-31,013

-599

415

25,870

-5,327

4,893

12,487

-6,688

-9

0

0

-6,697

3,313

1,343

-236

-75

0

30

-281

17

179

0

0

0

0

0

300

0

-50,366

-1,151

415

25,900

-25,202

12,537

24,289

-140,950

-7,104

415

32,256

-115,383

123,779

59,685
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
General remarks

well as the provision of shipping services and all kinds
of commercial and technical advisory services. In addition, the business purpose of the ER Group includes the
acquisition, disposal and holding of real estate and its
development. The Group is also active in the management of fund assets (asset management) as well as the
structuring and distribution of financial and investment
products, in particular in the areas of maritime shipping
and real estate.

(1)

GENERAL REMARKS

PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements of Ernst Russ AG
as of 31 December 2019 and the figures for the previous
year were prepared in accordance with Sections 290 et
seq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Ernst Russ AG, whose place of business is Elbchaus- The balance sheet is structured as required by Section
see 370, 22609 Hamburg, Germany is registered in the 266 HGB. The income statement was prepared using
commercial register of the Hamburg District Court under the total cost method in line with Section 275 (2) HGB.
Individual items of the income statement and the balHRB 93324.
ance sheet have been combined to improve overall presThe company's share capital of EUR 32,434,030.00 is entation. Other items have been added for clarity and
to improve the overall presentation. These items are
divided into 32,434,030 no-par registered shares.
explained in the notes.
Ernst Russ AG has been publicly listed since 2005 and
its shares have been traded on the Entry Standard of the German accounting standards (DRS) 8 (mostly), 13, 17,
Deutsche Börse AG in Frankfurt and the Mittelstands- 18 (mostly), 19, 20 (mostly), 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25 were
börse in Hamburg since May 2012. Deutsche Börse AG also taken into account when preparing the consolidated
replaced its Entry Standard with the 'Scale' listing seg- financial statements.
ment for growth companies as of 1 March 2017. Ernst
Russ AG was one of the first companies forming part The consolidated financial statements have been preof the new Deutsche Börse Scale listing segment on 1 pared in euros. Unless stated otherwise, all amounts are
March 2017. Since 16 December 2019, the Scale seg- in thousands of euros (EUR thousand).
ment has been part of what is known as the ‘SME growth
market’. This is a new category of multi-lateral trading The consolidated financial statements were drawn up
platforms in Europe which are designed specifically for under the assumption that the company remains a going
small and medium-sized enterprises (‘SME’ for short) concern.
and comply with EU-wide standards.
The consolidated financial statements and the combined
As at 31 December 2019, according to information avail- management report for Ernst Russ AG and the Group are
able to the company, 12,386,630 shares (38.2%) were published in the Federal Gazette.
held by Jochen Döhle, Germany, or companies controlled
or significantly influenced by him, 5,215,596 shares
(16.1%) by Hamburg Commercial Bank AG (formerly HSH (2) CONSOLIDATION
Nordbank AG), 2,953,302 shares (9.1%) by JaJo Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG and 2,075,415 shares (A) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
(6.4%) by MS 'CORDULA' Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH &
Co. KG. The remaining shares make up the free float.
The consolidated financial statements of the ER Group
include all material domestic and foreign subsidiaries in
Ernst Russ AG and its subsidiaries (hereafter: the ‘ER which Ernst Russ AG is able to control the financial and
Group’) form a services group that mostly operates in commercial policies directly or indirectly.
Germany. The Group's commercial activities include in
particular maritime shipping operations with owned and The capital of companies established by the ER Group or
chartered vessels, ship management and shipbroking acquired on arm's length terms and included in the conactivities, including freight brokerage and chartering as solidated financial statements is consolidated using the
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purchase method as of the acquisition date in accordance
with Section 301 HGB. In the course of applying the revaluation method, the acquisition cost of the equity interests
acquired was offset against the corresponding portion of
the fair value of the subsidiary's assets, liabilities, deferrals and accruals and special items as of the acquisition
date. Any positive difference arising from the operation
is recognised as goodwill. Negative differences arising
from the capital consolidation as of the acquisition date
are shown beneath equity as ‘negative goodwill’.
Expenses and income and receivables and liabilities
between consolidated companies are eliminated in
accordance with Sections 303 and 305 HGB. Intermediate earnings are eliminated in accordance with Section
304 HGB if material.

May 2019. The deconsolidation of these 29 subsidiaries affected the ER Group's key balance sheet items as
shown below (purchase price receivables are not taken
into account):
BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 MAY 2019
(IN EUR THOUSAND)
Intangible assets

-2,396

Financial assets

-1,163

Trade receivables

-3,135

Other assets

-2,450

Cash at hand and bank balances

-5,584

Provisions for taxes

-2,223

Other provisions

-2,625

Joint ventures between the ER Group and other partners
Deferred income
-1,174
and associated companies in which the Group has sig-1,494
nificant influence over financial and commercial policies, Deferred tax liabilities
but no control, are included in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method. Companies where a The 29 deconsolidated subsidiaries generated the folsignificant influence exists but is not exercised are pre- lowing income and expenses in the period 1 January to
sented as equity interests.
31 May 2019:
The financial statements of Ernst Russ AG, its consolidated subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are
prepared according to standard accounting principles
and valuation methods. The principles of revenue recognition and imparity were applied. The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries were drawn up
as of the reporting date for Ernst Russ AG.

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY
TO 31 MAY 2019 (IN EUR THOUSAND)
Revenue

3,726

Other operating income

1,226

Personnel expenses

-927

Depreciation

-577

Other operating expenses
(B)

GROUP OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

In addition to Ernst Russ AG, the scope of consolidation
for the ER Group comprised 65 companies (previous
year: 101), of which 14 (previous year: three) were based
abroad. Furthermore, ten (previous year: nine) domestic
companies and no overseas companies (previous year:
two) were included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
The changes in the group of consolidated companies
were primarily due to the sale of companies in the Investor Management segment. A total of 35 companies were
sold in the reporting year and eight companies were
merged with or became part of other Group subsidiaries. Liquidation balance sheets were prepared for seven
companies in the reporting year and in the case of one
company there is no longer a controlling influence. On
the other hand,13 companies were acquired and two
companies were established in the reporting year.
The disposal of the Investor Management segment
involved a total of 29 subsidiaries and took place on 31
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Income from other equity interests
Income taxes

-3,017
474
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Ernst Russ AG acquired the majority of shares in Elbfeeder Inc. and its seven subsidiaries on 31 July 2019.
The full consolidation of these companies had the following significant impact on the Ernst Russ AG consolidated
balance sheet on 31 July 2019:
BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 JULY 2019
(IN EUR THOUSAND)
Ships

44,894

Interests in associates

-6,907

Inventories (raw materials, consumables and
supplies)

2,290

Non-controlling interests (equity)

8,962

Liabilities to banks

(A)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased intangible assets are recognised at the lower
of amortised cost and fair value as of the reporting date.
‘Purchased service agreements’ was added in previous
years for clarity and to improve overall presentation.
This includes the amortised cost of the service agreements acquired in the course of company acquisitions.

535

Cash at hand and bank balances

Other provisions

(3)	ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Purchased intangible assets are amortised over their
forecast useful lives on a straight-line basis from the
time they become available, as follows:
USEFUL LIFE IN YEARS

584
25,594

Trade payables

2,107

Other liabilities

1,435

Service agreements

1 – 14

Goodwill

10

Trade mark rights

10

Software
Deferred tax liabilities

3 – 10

387

The Group has no internally generated intangible assets.
The full consolidation of Elbfeeder Inc. mainly had the
following impact on the consolidated income statement
items in the 2019 financial year:
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD 1 AUGUST
TO 31 DECEMBER 2019 (IN EUR THOUSAND)
Revenue
Cost of materials and services

7,755

(B)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Items of property, plant and equipment are recognised at
cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
forecast useful lives.

-5,612

Depreciation

-954

Other operating expenses

-274

Interest and similar expenses

-747

The consolidated financial statements of Ernst Russ AG
are not comparable with the consolidated financial statements for the previous year in this respect.
For details we refer to the list of equity interests as of 31
December 2019 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
No subsidiaries were fully consolidated and included
in the consolidated financial statements if the exercise
of the parent company's rights in relation to the assets
or management of the company were subject to significant lasting and adverse restrictions within the meaning of Section 296 (1) HGB or if the companies, within
the meaning of Section 296 (2) HGB, either individually
or collectively, did not have a material impact on the
Group's assets, financial position and earnings.

They are depreciated on a uniform basis for the Group
over the following useful lives:
USEFUL LIFE IN YEARS
Tenant fixtures
Other operating and office
equipment

Rental term, max. 5 - 15
3 – 14

Assuming a useful life of 20 or 25 years for a container
ship, container ships are depreciated taking account of
their respective ages. Their remaining useful life was
between three and 18 years as of 31 December 2019.
Individual items of property, plant and equipment costing
less than EUR 250 are depreciated in full in their year
of purchase. Items costing more than EUR 250 and less
than EUR 1,000 are pooled under a collective item and
depreciated over a period of five years.
When newly acquired subsidiaries are consolidated for
the first time, all the subsidiary’s assets, liabilities, accruals and deferrals and special items are revalued. Ship
assets are revalued based on the company’s own valuations which are supported by external expert opinions.
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(C)

FINANCIAL ASSETS

(E)	RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS /
OTHER SECURITIES

Financial assets are shown at the lower of cost and fair
value. Impairment losses are recognised for equity interests and loans if the pro rata value as a going concern or
repayment value is permanently lower than the acquisition cost. Write-ups are limited to the amount of any
previous impairment.
For reasons of materiality, the valuation of interests in
associates was with one exception, not carried using the
standard valuation method for the Group.

Receivables, other assets and cash and cash equivalents
are recognised at the lower of their nominal amount and
fair value as of the reporting date. They are written down
to fair value if exposed to specific risks.
Current securities are recognised at the lower of cost
and, wherever possible, their listed or market price, otherwise their fair value as of the reporting date.

(F)
(D)

Raw materials, consumables and supplies mainly
include lubricants for the operation of owned seagoing
vessels and are reported at cost in accordance with the
average value method as per Section 240 (4) HGB. They
are valued at the lower of cost and market price.
Unfinished services include charges that have not yet
been invoiced to tenants of former Group-owned properties. They are valued at the lower of cost and market
price.
Any write-downs on inventories are reversed if the reasons for the impairment no longer apply.
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ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS

INVENTORIES

Accruals and deferrals include expenses recognised for
a period after the reporting date.

(G)

PENSION PROVISIONS

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit method based on
the 2018 G mortality tables drawn up by Professor Klaus
Heubeck. The provisions are based on a retirement age
of 65.
The simplification option defined in Section 253 (2)
sentence 2 HGB was used to calculate the provisions,
assuming an interest rate of 2.71% (previous year:
3.21%) and a term to maturity of 15 years. Calcula-
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tions assume that pensions increase at a rate of 2% per
annum.
In addition, the ER Group has made contributions to pension funds for some employees that qualify as defined
contribution plans. In the reporting year, expenses of
EUR 22 thousand were recognised for such plans (previous year: EUR 23 thousand).

(H)

OTHER PROVISIONS

Other provisions have been recognised for all identifiable risks, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts.
The necessary amount is calculated using prudent
commercial judgement. Cost increases are taken into
account when calculating the settlement amount. Other
provisions with maturities of more than one year are discounted at the appropriate interest rates as announced
by the German central bank.

(J)

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS

Accruals and deferrals include income recognised for a
period after the reporting date.

(K)

DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differences between the accounting and tax bases of assets,
liabilities, accruals and deferrals. For Ernst Russ AG, the
differences not only relate to items in its own balance
sheet, but also to those of partnerships in which Ernst
Russ AG holds interests. Also included are tax loss carry-forwards if it is highly likely that they can be offset
against taxable income in the next five years.
Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rates applicable under current legislation or those expected at the
time the losses are offset.

For provisions relating to litigation, the assumed obliga- Deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown on a net
tions to third parties are offset against the correspond- basis if they meet the relevant criteria.
ing claims under existing D&O insurance in accordance
with IDW RS HFA 34.
Any net tax expense is recognised in the balance sheet
as a deferred tax liability. The company makes use of the
option defined in Section 274 (1) sentence 2 and Section
306
HGB to recognise a deferred tax asset on the basis
(I)
LIABILITIES
of future tax reductions.
Liabilities are recognised at the amount required to settle them.
(L)

CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rate on the transaction date. Foreign currency receivables due in less than one year are valued
at the mean spot rate on the reporting date. All other
foreign currency receivables are translated at the lower
of the exchange rate on the transaction date and the
reporting date. Foreign currency liabilities due in less
than one year are valued at the mean spot rate on the
reporting date. All other foreign currency liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the exchange rate on the
transaction date and the reporting date.
With the exception of equity, which is translated to euros
at the historical rate, asset and liability items denominated in a foreign currency are translated to euros at the
mean spot rate on the reporting date. Income statement
items are translated to euros at average monthly rates.
Any translation differences are shown as consolidated
equity under ‘Other comprehensive income’ and do not
affect the operating result.
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NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET

(B)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

See the schedule of fixed assets for the ER Group for
changes in property, plant and equipment.
(4) FIXED ASSETS
(A)

The container ships acquired have been reported under
a separate balance sheet item under property, plant and
equipment.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The schedule of fixed assets shows changes in the individual intangible assets of the ER Group.
(C)

FINANCIAL ASSETS

In the reporting year, unrealised gains up to the fair
value of the acquired assets were recognised in the See the schedule of fixed assets for the ER Group for
first-time consolidation of companies acquired in previ- changes in financial assets.
ous financial years. The unrealised gains mainly relate
to service agreements that are shown in a special item The list of equity interests as of 31 December 2019 is
under Intangible assets. These contracts are amor- attached as an appendix to these notes.
tised on a straight-line basis over the assumed contract
period. In the 2019 financial year, impairment losses of The carrying amount of interests in associates is the
EUR 228 thousand were recognised for purchased ser- lower of the share in the associate's equity and fair value.
vice agreements (previous year: EUR 2,425 thousand).
Loans to investees and investors relate entirely to loans
The first-time consolidation of König & Cie. GmbH & to associates.
Co. KG and König & Cie. Holding GmbH & Co. KG (jointly
referred to as König & Cie.) as of 31 January 2016
resulted in goodwill EUR 4,729 thousand. The first-time
consolidation of Ernst Russ Reederei GmbH & Co. KG
as of 30 April 2016 resulted in goodwill of EUR 3,179
thousand. The acquisition of a further 15% of subsidiary, Assetando Real Estate GmbH, by a co-shareholder
resulted in goodwill of EUR 362 thousand. Goodwill, split
between the segments of the ER Group, developed as
follows:
EUR THOUSAND

DISPOSAL

DEPRECIATION

31/12/2019

4,063

-78

-596

3,389

Investor Management

765

-720

-45

0

Real Estate

290

206

-73

423

5,118

206

-714

3,812

Shipping

Total

1/1/2019

ADDITION

The addition in the Real Estate segment is due to the
acquisition of further company shares from a former
minority shareholder.
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(5)	RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
EUR 1,459 thousand of the receivables (previous year:
EUR 1,783 thousand) are due in more than one year.
Non-current receivables relate entirely to Other assets
(previous year: EUR 45 thousand). All the remaining
receivables are due within one year.
Other assets include bank balances that are pledged as
collateral to third parties of EUR 2,558 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,773 thousand).
Receivables from investees and investors include
EUR 656 thousand for services rendered (previous year:
EUR 2,867 thousand).

(6) EQUITY
Changes in equity components are shown in the table of
changes in Group equity.

April 2016 with the approval of the Supervisory Board
to increase the share capital by EUR 6,225,000.00
(6,225,000 shares) to EUR 32,434,030.00 by way of a
non-cash contribution.
In a resolution passed on 23 June 2016, the Annual General Meeting authorised the Executive Board, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share
capital by up to EUR 16,217,015.00 until 22 June 2021
by issuing new registered shares on one or more occasions for subscription in cash or in kind (Authorised Capital 2016). If the share capital is increased by cash contribution, the shareholders must be given subscription
rights. In accordance with Section 186 (5) of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the new shares can also be
acquired by a bank with the obligation to offer them for
subscription to shareholders. However, subject to the
approval of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board
is authorised to exclude shareholders' rights on one or
more occasions
for fractional amounts,

(A)

SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL

The company's share capital of EUR 32,434,030.00 is
divided into 32,434,030 no-par registered shares.
Based on the authorisation granted by the Annual General Meeting and entered in the commercial register on
14 September 2011, the Executive Board voted on 21

if it is necessary to grant holders of bonds with conversion or option rights or a conversion obligation,
issued by the company or its group companies, the
right to subscribe to new shares to the extent of their
entitlement after they have exercised their conversion or option rights or conversion obligation,
	In the event of a capital increase for cash if the issue
price of the new shares is not materially - as defined
in Section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG - below the market price for the company shares of the same type
and the shares issued excluding subscription rights
in line with Section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG do not
exceed ten percent of the share capital, either at
the time this authorisation takes effect or the time
it is exercised. To be included in this cap are those
shares issued or to be issued to fulfil bonds with
conversion or option rights or conversion obligations, if these bonds were issued by the company
or any of its subsidiaries during the period of this
authorisation and exclude subscription rights with
the corresponding application of Section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG. Also included in the cap are the treasury shares sold if the sale takes place during the
period of validity of this authorisation and excludes
subscription rights in accordance with Section 186
(3) sentence 4 AktG; or
for a capital increase for subscription in kind.
The Executive Board is also authorised, with the approval
of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further
details of the capital increase and its implementation,
particularly the nature of the share rights and the terms
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of the share issue. The Supervisory Board is authorised
to amend the articles of association in accordance with
the utilisation of the authorised capital.
In addition, the Executive Board is authorised to increase
the company's share capital by up to EUR 16,217,015.00
by issuing up to 16,217,015 new registered shares (‘Contingent Capital 2016’). Contingent capital will only be
used insofar as

rise to negative goodwill of EUR 10,870 thousand. The
date of first consolidation was 31 July 2016. WestFonds
operates in particular in fund and asset management
in the real estate sector. The negative goodwill results
entirely from possible future expenses in connection
with contingent liabilities, which decline until the year
2020. As the risk diminishes, the negative goodwill is to
be reversed through profit or loss on a pro rata basis.
EUR 189 thousand was reversed in 2019 and recognised
in other operating income. The negative goodwill in this
connection came to EUR 104 thousand as of 31 December 2019.

	the holders or creditors of bonds with conversion or
option rights issued by the company or its direct or
indirect majority holdings on the basis of the authorisation granted by the Annual General Meeting on 23 The first-time consolidation of Cologne Trust Real Estate
June 2016 actually make use of their conversion or GmbH (renamed Assetando Property Management
GmbH) and Cologne Trust Fund Management GmbH
option rights or
(renamed Assetando New Energy GmbH, referred to
	the holders or creditors of bonds with conversion jointly below as Cologne Trust) gave rise to negative
obligations issued by the company or its direct or goodwill of EUR 574 thousand. The date of first consolindirect majority holdings on the basis of the author- idation was 31 December 2017. Cologne Trust operates
isation granted by the Annual General Meeting on 23 in particular in fund and asset management in the real
estate sector. The negative goodwill is entirely attributJune 2016 meet their conversion obligations
able to a contingent future claim in relation to a consultand insofar as they are not compensated in cash or other ing company. Negative goodwill remained unchanged at
existing shares are used. New shares are issued at the EUR 574 thousand as of 31 December 2019.
option or conversion price determined in accordance
with the authorisation granted by the Annual General
Meeting on 23 June 2016. The new shares are entitled (8) PENSION PROVISIONS
to company profits from the beginning of the financial
year in which they are created by the exercise of con- The difference between the pension provisions shown
version or option rights or by the fulfilment of conver- in the balance sheet, which are based on an average
market interest rate over the last ten years, and the pension obligations.
sion obligation based on a seven-year average is EUR 93
The Executive Board is authorised to determine the thousand (previous year: EUR 118 thousand).
further details of implementing the contingent capital
increase. The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend
the articles of association as the contingent capital is (9) OTHER PROVISIONS
used. The same applies if the authorisation dated 23
June 2016 to issue convertible bonds or warrants is not Other provisions mainly relate to equalisation obliexercised during its period of validity and if the contin- gations and guarantees totalling EUR 3,092 thousand
gent capital is not used after the expiry of the exercise (previous year: EUR 3,478 thousand), personnel obliperiods for options or conversion rights or for fulfilling gations of EUR 721 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,282
thousand), accounting and audit costs of EUR 425 thouconversion or option obligations.
sand (previous year: EUR 445 thousand), provisions for
impending losses of EUR 420 thousand (previous year:
EUR
846 thousand) and provisions for outstanding
(B) CAPITAL RESERVES
invoices of EUR 405 thousand (previous year: EUR 432
EUR 5,694,995.00 was transferred to reserves in accord- thousand).
ance with Section 272 (2) No. 1 HGB and EUR 962,033.40
in accordance with Section 272 (2) No. 4 HGB.

(7)	NEGATIVE GOODWILL FROM CAPITAL
CONSOLIDATION
The first-time consolidation of WestFonds Immobilien
Anlagegesellschaft mbH (hereinafter WestFonds) gave

74

Annual Report 2019

|

Ernst Russ AG

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes on the consolidated balance sheet

(10) LIABILITIES
Liabilities were as follows:
STATEMENT OF LIABILITIES AS OF 31/12/2019

EUR THOUSAND

TERM TO MATURITY OF
ONE YEAR OR LESS

TERM TO MATURITY
FROM ONE TO FIVE
YEARS

TERM TO MATURITY
OF MORE THAN FIVE
YEARS

7,318

46,411

496

10

--

--

3,140

--

--

44

--

--

741

4,499

--

4,823

1,969

--

595

--

--

7

--

--

Liabilities to banks
Payments received on account
Trade payables
Liabilities to affiliates
Liabilities to investees and investors
Other liabilities
- of which taxes
- of which social security

EUR 52,557 thousand of the liabilities to banks for the
financing of 13 container ships and a bulker are secured

by ship mortgages and the assignment of all charter
income, insurance payments and other income.

STATEMENT OF LIABILITIES AS OF 31/12/2018

TERM TO MATURITY OF
ONE YEAR OR LESS

TERM TO MATURITY
FROM ONE TO FIVE
YEARS

TERM TO MATURITY
OF MORE THAN FIVE
YEARS

9,426

12,141

751

468

--

--

1,702

--

--

44

--

--

Liabilities to investees and investors

1,104

--

--

Other liabilities

3,788

875

600

592

--

--

3

--

--

EUR THOUSAND
Liabilities to banks
Payments received on account
Trade payables
Liabilities to affiliates

- of which taxes
- of which social security

A liability of EUR 375 thousand from a guarantee obligation to a bank is shown under Other liabilities (previous
year: EUR 750 thousand).
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NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

in Essen EUR 5,538 thousand). This item also includes
lubricants and fuel used in the operation of 13 (previous
year: three) container ships and a bulker of EUR 1,119
thousand (previous year: EUR 661 thousand).

(11) REVENUE
Revenue is made up as follows:
EUR THOUSAND

2019

2018

Shipping

38,471

25,601

Real Estate

14,757

14,914

Investor Management

3,333

9,029

Alternative investments

1,577

2,147

655

1,014

58,793

52,705

Other services
Total revenue

(14) DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT

Revenue from the ‘Other Services’ segment mainly consists of income from agency agreements, fees for interest and currency management and fund services.

Depreciation and amortisation of current assets in
excess of the normal level for the company totalled
EUR 1,421 thousand in the 2019 financial year (previous year: EUR 1,254 thousand).

The table below provides information about the geographic distribution of revenue by location of the Group
company:

Impairment losses of EUR 228 thousand (previous year:
EUR 2,440 thousand) were recognised on intangible
assets that are expected to be permanently impaired.

EUR THOUSAND
Domestic
Foreign

2019

2018

50,578

52,166

8,215

539

(12 ) OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Other operating income mainly includes the income from
the reversal of provisions from other periods mentioned
in note (21) as well as income from written-off receivables. It also includes deconsolidation profit of EUR 1,206
thousand from the sale of the Solar business. In addition,
the acquisition of further shares in a Group subsidiary
led to other operating income of EUR 1,061 thousand.
Other operating income also includes income from currency translation of EUR 465 thousand (previous year:
EUR 705 thousand) and income from write-ups of financial assets of EUR 415 thousand (previous year: EUR 371
thousand). Income from the reversal of negative goodwill shown under Other operating income amounted to
EUR 189 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,576 thousand).

(13) COSTS OF MATERIALS AND SERVICES
Expenses for raw materials, consumables and supplies mainly consist of expenses arising from the writedown in connection with the sale of a property in Essen
of EUR 6,000 thousand (previous year: other property

76

Expenses for purchased services largely comprise
third-party services in connection with crewing services of EUR 7,048 thousand (previous year: EUR 8,516
thousand). It also includes ship operating costs of
EUR 16,275 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,909 thousand) and expenses related to the sub-management of
ships of EUR 1,198 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,451
thousand).

(15)	OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Other operating expenses mainly include expenses in
the form of legal and advisory costs of EUR 1,833 (previous year: EUR 2,567), expenses from the impairment
of trade receivables of EUR 1,423 thousand (previous
year: EUR 3,615 thousand) and expenses for the rental
of premises of EUR 1,328 thousand (previous year:
EUR 2,080 thousand). Furthermore, Other operating
expenses include a loss arising from the deconsolidation of the Investor Management segment of EUR 1,590
thousand.
Other operating expenses also include expenses from
currency translation of EUR 874 thousand (previous
year: EUR 853 thousand).
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(16)	OTHER INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

(19)	INCOME TAXES

No interest income was generated from the deduction
of unaccrued interest on provisions in the financial year
(previous year: EUR 3 thousand).

Income taxes consist of income taxes paid or owed in
individual countries and deferred tax. Income taxes are
made up of trade tax, corporation tax, solidarity surcharge and the corresponding foreign income taxes.

(17)	AMORTISATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND CURRENT SECURITIES

For companies domiciled in Germany, the corporation
tax rate is 15% (previous year: 15%) plus a solidarity
surcharge of 5.5% (previous year: 5.5%) of the corporation tax due. In addition, these companies and their
subsidiaries domiciled in Germany in the form of partnerships are subject to trade tax, which is charged at a
rate set by the local authority. For companies domiciled
abroad, the tax rate is 19% (previous year: 19%).

Amortisation relates in particular to amortisation on
interests in associates of EUR 383 thousand (previous
year: EUR 0 thousand) and on interests in investees of
EUR 599 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,597 thousand).

(18)	INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
No interest expenses were accrued on provisions (previous year: EUR 108 thousand).

Corporation tax and trade tax loss carry-forwards are
subject to limits imposed by rules on minimum taxation in Germany. These enable a positive tax assessment
base of up to EUR 1,000 thousand to be used without any
restrictions. Amounts exceeding this must be reduced by
any loss carry-forward up to a maximum of 60%.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities from temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards are as follows:

EUR THOUSAND

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

DEFERRED
TAX ASSETS

DEFERRED
TAX
LIABILITIES

DEFERRED
TAX ASSETS

DEFERRED
TAX
LIABILITIES

207

421

140

2,493

Financial assets

--

--

--

7

Inventories

--

--

449

--

13

11

22

6

Other securities

--

4

--

4

Cash at hand and bank balances

1

3

3

46

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

469

61

480

67

Other provisions

242

--

414

--

Liabilities to banks

254

--

200

--

5

--

--

--

1,191

500

1,708

2,623

--

--

96

-

1,191

500

1,804

2,623

-280

-280

-446

-446

911

220

1,358

2,177

Intangible assets

Receivables and other assets

Liabilities to affiliates
Temporary differences
Loss carry-forwards
Total
Netting
Carrying amount
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In 2019, the calculation was based on a tax rate of
32.28% (previous year: 32.28%), which is made up of a
corporation tax rate of 15.0%, the solidarity surcharge
of 5.5% of corporation tax and a trade tax rate of 16.45%
(previous year: 16.45%) for Hamburg and Bremen
respectively. Companies assuming the legal form of a
partnership are subject to trade tax.
Deferred tax assets on temporary differences and tax
loss carry-forwards are recognised if it seems sufficiently probable that they can be used in the near future.
Deferred tax assets on tax loss carry-forwards have
the value assigned to them because they can be offset
against deferred tax liabilities.

OTHER DISCLOSURES
(22) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Since January 2020, the coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 has
spread to further countries across the globe (coronavirus pandemic). According to a study published by the
Munich-based ifo Institute in March 2020, global gross
domestic product will now only increase 0.1% in the
current year compared with 2.6% in the previous year.
Europe and the USA in particular will contribute to this,
while activity in China and South Korea is picking up
again slightly. According to forecasts by the Munichbased institute, a gradual process of recovery will begin
from summer 2020 with just under 2% growth in the
third quarter and 1.7% in the fourth quarter. The ifo Institute believes that after 2019 global trade will also be
severely affected falling 1.7%.

Deferred tax assets based on temporary differences
mainly relate to the different treatment of pension provisions as well as the provisions for onerous contracts
recognised in the course of first-time consolidation. In
the previous year, deferred tax assets based on temporary differences mainly related to the different treat- The ER Group has felt the impact of the coronavirus panment of a building under current assets and of pension demic and its effect on the global economy particularly
provisions and provisions for onerous contracts recog- in the Shipping segment. A slowdown in global trade
nised in the course of first-time consolidation. Income and consequently a reduction in charter rates has had
taxes include income from other periods of EUR 697 a direct impact on ER Group revenue. Should the marthousand (previous year: EUR 1,142 thousand) from tax ket fail to recover following the corona crisis or should
refunds and the reversal of provisions for taxes. They its recovery be delayed, in addition to a fall in charter
also include expenses for other periods of EUR 1,391 income, a need for impairment, particularly on ship
thousand (previous year: EUR 686 thousand).
assets and on interests in the Shipping segment, cannot be ruled out. However, at the time of preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the ER Group there
(20) OTHER TAXES
is no need for impairment as yet, since it is assumed that
the negative influences will be reversed in due course. It
should be noted that the corona crisis will have a negaOther taxes mainly include land tax expenses.
tive impact on the assets, financial position and earnings
of the ER Group in the 2020 financial year, but the full
extent of this impact cannot be conclusively assessed
(21) EARNINGS FROM OTHER PERIODS
at present. See the Forecast in the Management Report.
In the reporting year, there was income from other periods from the reversal of provisions of EUR 1,337 thou- Aside from the circumstances described above there
sand (previous year: EUR 2,879 thousand) and income have been no other transactions of particular imporfrom previously written-off receivables of EUR 440 thou- tance.
sand (previous year: EUR 872 thousand). This is shown in
other operating income. Otherwise, there was no signifi(23) NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
cant income or expenses from other periods.
In the 2019 and 2018 financial years, the Group had an
average of 113 and 180 employees respectively.
In the reporting year there were no employees in companies consolidated on a pro rata basis in line with Section 310 HGB.
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(24)	CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER
FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

the liability of some companies in the ER Group as trustee limited partners within the meaning of Sections 171
and 172 (4) HGB. All of the risk described here ceases to
apply as a result of the disposal of the trust companies
in the ER Group as of 31 May 2019 (31 December 2018:
EUR 233 million).

Some companies in the ER Group were registered in
the commercial register as trustee limited partners
for investors in portfolio funds with the liable capital
of these investors. In line with the distribution policies
of many funds, which distribute surplus cash not cov- The acquisition costs of fund interests held by compaered by profits to investors, the limited partners in these nies in the ER Group on their own account were reduced
funds (i.e. the former ER Group companies as trustee by EUR 2.8 million (previous year: EUR 3.9 million) in
limited partners) are liable in accordance with Section the consolidated financial statements as of 31 Decem171 and 172 (4) HGB. This means that any distributions ber 2019 to reflect liability claims in accordance with
of liable capital must be repaid to the respective fund. In Sections 171 and 172 (4) HGB.
practice, this occurs if the fund becomes insolvent and
can no longer repay its creditors. This could result in a As of 31 December 2019, there were the following addisubstantial cash outflow for the ER Group arising from tional contingent liabilities and other financial obligations:
31/12/2019

Guarantees and other obligations
Future payments in operating leases

31/12/2018

EUR
THOUSAND

EUR
THOUSAND

USD
THOUSAND

EUR
THOUSAND

EUR
THOUSAND

USD
THOUSAND

2,870

2,781

100

4,531

2,505

2,320

926

926

--

2,374

2,374

--
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The notes below provide a brief explanation of the
main contingent liabilities:
 rnst Russ AG has given guarantees for several
E
funds amounting to around EUR 3.2 million. All of
these funds have made distributions in recent financial years. Provisions of EUR 1.2 million have been
recognised for claims expected under the guarantees. The difference is recognised as a contingent
liability. The probability of claims is considered to be
low since the funds concerned are expected to have
sufficient cash holdings.
 rnst Russ AG has given two ship funds in liquidation
E
a total liquidity commitment of USD 100 thousand.
A claim is not expected. The probability of claims is
considered to be low since the funds concerned are
expected to have sufficient cash holdings.
 rnst Russ AG has given a subordinated perforE
mance bond of EUR 433 thousand to the property
purchaser for a real estate company in the course
of a property sale. If guarantees are called in, these
would be serviced firstly by the primary guarantors.
As no guarantees have been called in to date, the
probability of claims is considered to be low.
In the course of divesting its Investor Management
segment, Ernst Russ AG has given various seller
guarantees and released purchasers from various
types of risk. These contingent liabilities are limited
to an amount of EUR 650 thousand. None of the guarantees have been called in to date, the probability of
occurrence in this respect is considered to be low.
Future payment obligations under rental agreements
and leases all relate to ‘operating leases’ and are made
up as follows:

EUR THOUSAND

TERM TO TERM TO MATURITY
MATURITY OF ONE
FROM ONE
YEAR OR LESS
TO FIVE YEARS

31 December 2019

802

124

31 December 2018

1,999

375

(25) CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The main non-cash investing and financing activities and
transactions relate to the non-cash income of EUR 1,061
thousand in connection with the acquisition of further
shares in a Group company. This includes income from
the deconsolidation of subsidiaries of EUR 497 thousand and also includes non-cash interest and investment income and expenses of EUR 1,674 thousand
and income and expenses from currency translation of
EUR 507 thousand.

(26) SUPERVISORY BORD AND EXECUTIVE
BOARD
The Supervisory Board of Ernst Russ AG was composed of the following members in the 2019 financial year:
 r Alexander Stuhlmann, management consultant,
M
Hamburg (Chairman)
 r Jochen Thomas Döhle, shipping merchant,
M
Hamburg (Deputy Chairman)
	Mr Robert Gärtner, businessman, Schliersee
(until 28 February 2019)
 r Ingo Kuhlmann, tax consultant, Sittensen
M
(from 24 June 2019)
 r Robert Lorenz-Meyer, businessman,
M
Hamburg

The members of the Executive Board in the 2019
financial year were:
 r Jens Mahnke, businessman, Hamburg
M
(until 1 July 2019)
 r Ingo Kuhlmann, businessman, Sittensen
M
(until 31 March 2019)
	Mr Robert Gärtner, businessman, Schliersee
(from 1 March 2019)
Mr Robert Gärtner is Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CDI Concepts Development Integration AG,
Dortmund.
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(27) REMUNERATION OF DECISION-MAKING
BODIES

(31) OTHER

Total remuneration including benefits in kind, is made
up as follows:

EUR THOUSAND

2019

2018

Executive Board

892

1,319

Supervisory Board

112

120

1,004

1,439

Total

The consolidated financial statements were prepared
by the Executive Board on 17 April 2020 and therefore
cleared for presentation to the Supervisory Board. The
consolidated financial statements will be presented to
the Supervisory Board for approval at its meeting on 23
April 2020.

Hamburg, 17 April 2020

(28) AUDITORS' FEES
The auditors' fees recognised in the consolidated financial statements came to EUR 295 thousand in 2019 (previous year: EUR 280 thousand) and are made up as follows:
TYPE OF SERVICE (IN EUR
THOUSAND)
Auditing financial statements
Other services

2019

2018

293

267

2

13

Robert Gärtner
CEO of Ernst Russ AG

(29)	EXEMPTIONS FOR CONSOLIDATED
COMPANIES
The exemptions in accordance with Section 264 (b) HGB
are used for Rote Anna Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH &
Co. KG, HCI Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Ernst
Russ Maritime Management GmbH & Co. KG, MS ‘Rita’
Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, MS ‘Ella’ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Ernst Russ Marine
Advisors GmbH & Co. KG, MS ‘AGRAFFA’ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, REAH Holding GmbH & Co.
KG, MS ‘JULIA’ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG and
Feederstar GmbH & Co. KG.

(30)	PROPOSAL FOR THE APPROPRIATION OF
PROFITS
The Executive Board proposes to the Supervisory Board
that the annual net profit of Ernst Russ AG is used to offset the loss carried forward and that the excess amount
is carried forward to a new account.
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LIST OF EQUITY INTERESTS OF
ERNST RUSS AG
FINANCIAL YEAR 2019
PLACE OF
BUSINESS

EQUITY
INTEREST

COUNTRY

EQUITY
IN EUR

EARNINGS
IN EUR

HCI Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

725,606.55

278,647.43

HCAM Hanseatische Capital Asset Management
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

2,935,505.28

2,684,269.65

Sprinkenschmiede GmbH – Marketingservice

Hamburg

100.00%

D

41,892.51

45,281.87

Rote Anna Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

28,727.92

495.09

Ernst Russ Schiff Beteiligungen GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,995,728.18

478,266.23

Assetando Real Estate GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

1,944,781.00

705,098.02

Ernst Russ Maritime Management GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,749,286.62

869,751.05

Elbfeeder Inc.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

13,859,060.00

-2,720,883.92

Ernst Russ Portal GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

1,971,055.53

-525,550.45

Düsseldorf

100.00%

D

5,003,539.14

4,521,521.75

Ernst Russ Marine Advisors GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

470,732.62

401,348.72

HCI Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

40,192.00

5,149.06

HSC Fonds Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

205,811.74

281,812.43

HSC Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH

Schönefeld

100.00%

D

373,872.20

103,080.66

Hanseatische Immobilien Management GmbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

26,951.96

1,951.96

Hanseatische Immobilien Management Niederlande GmbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

27,178.87

2,178.87

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

17,038.96

65,184.45

HCI U.S.A. Management Services Company LLC

Wilmington,
Delaware

100.00%

USA

187,528.70

-9,937.43

WestFonds Verwaltung GmbH

Schönefeld

100.00%

D

113,033.40

50,533.03

HCAM Portfolio Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

28,662.72

3,372.19

HCAM Portfolio Management GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

38,217.94

19,220.45

Ernst Russ Shipping Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

31,088.14

2,295.15

HCAM Investment Management UK Ltd.

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

181,434.16

35,237.69

Verwaltung HSC Aufbauplan Schiff GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

32,291.77

6,743.65

Verwaltung HSC Aufbauplan Portfolio GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

30,793.75

5,649.12

Management HSC Aufbauplan und Protect-Fonds
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

109,197.46

-4,342.30

Ernst Russ Consulting GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

168,675.01

66,400.16

A. Fully consolidated affiliates

WestFonds Immobilien-Anlagegesellschaft mbH

HCAM Asset Management UK Ltd.
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Ernst Russ Mercator Navigation GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

23,806.45

-4,127.13

Deepwater Maritime Invest GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

182,129.02

125,101.20

Ritella Schiffverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

31,701.70

6,458.17

REAH Holding GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

10,367,523.86

-1,269,494.78

Rote Anna Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

4,742,171.43

134,082.64

MS "JULIA" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

51.00%

D

12,436,753.09

-1,179,994.73

Feederstar GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

51.00%

D

697,320.81

-32,679.19

Feederstar Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

51.00%

D

23,532.55

-1,467.45

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft RWI-Fonds 25 mbH
i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

54,278.67

-3,898.17

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft RWI-Fonds 34 mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

24,021.37

-4,574.50

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft WestFonds 2 H
mbH

Düsseldorf

100.00%

D

14,183.74

-3,140.10

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft RWI-Fonds 140
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,431.83

-5,412.06

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft WestFonds 6 mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

29,103.32

-2,982.60

WestFonds BI Management GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

20,585.26

-5,440.14

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft WestFonds 3
Düsseldorf mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

12,901.95

-2,962.86

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft WestFonds 3
Berlin mbH i.L.

Düsseldorf

100.00%

D

20,158.22

-8,696.54

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft WestFonds 2 D
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

15,440.72

-1,633.57

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft BI-Fonds 12 mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

16,188.52

-1,538.55

WestFonds-PHG-Gesellschaft BI-Fonds 14 mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

17,173.55

-1,765.03

WestFonds Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 1
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

156,118.58

26,505.24

Assetando Hospitality GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

347,600.84

-133,850.51

Cologne

85.00%

D

542,271.38

621,789.09

Hamburg

100.00%

D

26,736.19

404.24

Köln

85.00%

D

465,545.88

273,380.28

MS "Rita" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

99.00%

D

7,951,409.65

-58,994.03

(1)

MS "Ella" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

99.00%

D

6,761,106.07

-122,395.01

(1)

MS "Agraffa" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

6,315,320.93

635,726.95

(1)

EF Olivia Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

11,119,021.72

1,995,547.45

EF Olivia Chartering Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

-400.57

400.57

EF Elena Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

4,282,775.50

-443,776.93

EF Ava Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

2,705,105.04

287,907.25

EF Ava Chartering Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

52.00%

MHL

0.00

0.00

Assetando Property Management GmbH
Assetando Dritte Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH
Merkens Fonds GmbH
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EF Eldra Limited

Isle of Man

52.00%

IMN

3,898,922.20

-589,223.78

EF Emira Limited

Isle of Man

52.00%

IMN

8,949,575.40

785,622.22

EF Emma Limited

Isle of Man

52.00%

IMN

8,792,162.19

922,236.96

EF Emma Chartering Limited

Isle of Man

52.00%

IMN

0.00

0.00

EF Eliza Limited

Isle of Man

52.00%

IMN

7,594,938.58

-706,089.55

Hamburg

51.00%

D

29,067.20

1,425.47

Hamburg

49.40%

D

56,510.15

-208,986.55

(3)

MS Stadt Coburg T+H Schiffahrts GmbH & Co.KG

Leer

36.37%

D

-20,641,044.46 -12,610,790.63

(5)

MS Stadt Freiburg T+H Schiffahrts GmbH & Co.KG

Leer

25.67%

D

-14,273,804.45

-9,835,247.23

(5)

Hamburg

50.00%

D

-12,141,525.99

-5,395,247.42

(5)

Vierte RRS Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Bad
Zwischenahn

50.00%

D

-22,265,396.36

4,721,573.67

(4)

Zweite RRS Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Bad
Zwischenahn

50.00%

D

-21,725,134.84

4,534,966.56

(4)

Fernando Feeder Parent GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

8,099,961.94

797,779.42

Fernando Feeder Parent Verwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH

Hamburg

45.00%

D

29,793.60

1,263.97

Haren / Ems

49.00%

D

3,499,250.00

-750.00

(3)

Düsseldorf

49.10%

D

9,435,218.99

1,027,446.74

(4)

Verwaltung MS "JULIA" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft
mbH

B. Companies consolidated using the equity method
Marvest GmbH

MS "Tasman Castle" GmbH & Co. KG

Auerbach Schiff 6 Holding GmbH & Co. KG
WestFonds 5 Büropark Aachen Laurensberg KG
i.L.

C.	Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial statements of Ernst Russ AG in accordance with Section 296 HGB
and equity interests of Ernst Russ AG or a subsidiary in accordance with Section 271 HGB
Verwaltungsgesellschaft OS.I Ocean Shipping I
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

26,679.48

1,043.72 (3)*

Europa Schiffsfonds Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

48.50%

D

36,679.04

3,155.64

HCI MS "Serena" Verwaltungs GmbH i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

720.86

Verwaltung HCI Beteiligungsgesellschaft Vela +
Delphinus mbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

37,356.00

-377.14

(3)

Oslo

2.09%

NOR

13,908,484.63

-2,366,848.80

(3)

Schönefeld

100.00%

D

59,248.64

Verwaltung MS "Tasman Castle" GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

20,046.50

501.12

(5)

HCI Real Estate BRIC GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

< 1.00%

D

64,739,820.56

-9,503,741.98

(3)

HCI Real Estate BRIC Verwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

54,162.47

3,925.76 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XI
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

16,517.59

486.32 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XII
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

46,152.99

30,885.66 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XIV
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

10,972.86

-1,844.33 (3)*

Partankers X AS
HCI Aircraft Management GmbH
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Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XX
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

25,797.24

1,679.00 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XXI
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

24,546.33

5,016.66 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XXII Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.

Bremen

100.00%

D

26,159.22

14,025.63 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XXIV Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

14,438.15

-3,044.89 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XXV Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

17,842.14

-3,767.14 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Holland XXVI Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

14,935.19

1,300.54 (3)*

Hanseatische Immobilienfonds Österreich
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Bremen

100.00%

D

28,874.48

-16,193.82 (4)*

HCI Real Estate BRIC Pooling Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

307,939.56

45,851.48 (3)*

HCI Immobilien Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft
mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

87,240.11

14,529.89 (3)*

Verwaltung HCI Büroimmobilie Flughafen Berlin
Brandenburg GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

34,834.08

2,141.00 (3)*

HCI Real Estate Growth I USA Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

43,004.29

2,118.71 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds I Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

4,148.70

-933.35 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds II Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

5,404.48

-934.35 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds III Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

798.73

-1,709.35 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds IV Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

830.69

-3,905.39 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds V Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

1,018.66

-1,982.65 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds VI Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

3,780.81

-933.35 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds VII Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

7,566.32

-1,981.95 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds VIII Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

4,439.11

-934.35 (3)*

HCI Schiffsfonds IX Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

3,673.89

-933.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds I Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

3,977.59

-1,025.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds II Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

5,305.99

-933.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds III Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

6,811.82

-954.41 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds IV Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

546.57

-1,709.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds V Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

6,129.83

-934.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds Premium I Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

4,000.81

-934.35 (3)*

HCI Renditefonds Premium II Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

6,513.36

-934.35 (3)*
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HCI Anteilsverwaltung UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

13,220.46

-11,084.12 (3)*

HCI 1100 TEU Schiffsfonds I Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

3,035.86

-1,217.37 (3)*

HCI 1100 TEU Schiffsfonds II Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

5,411.80

1,648.43 (3)*

HCI Exclusiv Schiffsfonds II Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

6,501.95

-948.56 (3)*

HCI Hammonia Baltica Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

1,554.91

-1,382.20 (3)*

HCI Hammonia I Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Bremen

100.00%

D

8,624.51

5,180.75 (3)*

Jade C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

6,780.77

831.17

(4)

Jill C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

6,984.51

947.33

(4)

Emily C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

6,604.01

431.89

(4)

Anna C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

6,415.13

535.58

(3)

Dina C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

50.00%

D

4,174.36

893.56

(3)

Margrete C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

Vanessa C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Leer

50.00%

D

3,861.47

-122.45

(4)

Verwaltung MS Weisshorn GmbH

Drochtersen

50.00%

D

32,448.03

1,329.40

(4)

Verwaltung MS Rothorn GmbH

Drochtersen

50.00%

D

33,717.60

1,331.04

(3)

MS Maria Sibum Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Haren / Ems

50.00%

D

523.59

-174.06

(5)

MS Alexander Sibum Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Haren / Ems

50.00%

D

180.80

-508.78

(5)

Ile de Batz Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Jork

50.00%

D

6,599.85

5,939.98

(4)

Ile de Molene Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Jork

50.00%

D

-585.83

-2,671.74

(5)

Ile de Re Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Jork

50.00%

D

-4,296.76

-414.99

(5)

Ile de Reunion Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Jork

50.00%

D

1,021.34

-308.44

(4)

Haren / Ems

50.00%

D

5,140.69

1,576.40

(4)

Verwaltung König & Cie. Britische Leben GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

15,930.64

6,753.99 (4)*

Verwaltung König & Cie. Zweite Britische Leben
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

44,049.14

2,326.05 (4)*

Verwaltung Deepsea Oil Explorer GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

131,741.50

20,600.98

(4)

Managementgesellschaft Deepsea Oil Explorer
mbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

278,719.17

414.90

(4)

MS "Cremon" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Drochtersen

48.00%

D

6,711.95

1,802.65

(4)

MS "Steintor" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Drochtersen

48.00%

D

6,684.53

1,802.65

(4)

"Elbe Schiffahrt" Verwaltungs-UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Drochtersen

48.00%

D

7,663.00

1,992.67

(4)

MS "Steinhöft" Verwaltungs-UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Drochtersen

48.00%

D

-2,379.07

908.07

(5)

MS "Gerd" Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)
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Drochtersen

48.00%

D

3,624.52

2,762.55

(5)

King "D" Zweite Tankschiffahrts Verwaltungs
GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

21,595.24

-410.25

*

Geja C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

100.00%

D

4,944.20

1,134.23 (3)*

HCI Schiffsverwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

49,084.55

3,544.02 (3)*

HCI Wohnimmobilienfonds SPV GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

88.00%

D

-302.33

-3,946.16 (3)*

HCI Wohnimmobilienfonds Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

16,834.03

-1,004.38 (3)*

King "D" Dritte Tankschiffahrts Verwaltungs UG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,101.57

2,601.57 (3)*

King "D" Vierte Tankschiffahrts Verwaltungs UG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,101.57

2,601.57 (3)*

Glückstadt

100.00%

D

66,164.37

-2,449.17 (5)*

MS Emotion Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

n/a

MS Enterprise Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,152.39

MS Eternity Verwaltung GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

n/a

Glückstadt

100.00%

D

27,141.85

-2,405,.08 (5)*

Hamburg

100.00%

D

4,944.97

1,133.97 (3)*

Bremen

100.00%

D

3,810.36

771.48 (4)*

Verwaltung HCI Beteiligungsgesellschaft Vela +
Delphinus mbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

37,356.00

-377.14

4. Verw. Reederei Marten GmbH i.L.

Groß
Wittensee

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

5. Verw. Reederei Marten GmbH i.L.

Groß
Wittensee

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

Beluga F-Serie Besteller GmbH i.L.

Bremen

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

HCI Shipping Opportunity Management GmbH i. L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

22,315.31

-200.52

(3)

MarCalabria Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

30,087.37

5,653.29

(4)

MarChaser Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

50.00%

D

-1,590.87

-604.32

(4)

MarChicora Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

50.00%

D

5,111.15

1,047.74

(4)

MarComanche Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

50.00%

D

-1,401.30

-562.73

(4)

MS "ANGELN" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

49.00%

D

7,865.03

2,486.29

(3)

MS "Birk" Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

49.00%

D

6,091.96

1,156.46

(3)

MS "HR Constellation" Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

21,808.41

73.44

(3)

MS "HR Constitution" Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

21,811.18

-374.49

(3)

MS Endeavour Verwaltung GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

28,397.93

387.34

(4)

MS Favourisation Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

33,264.67

2,583.11

(3)

MS Frequency Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

27,053.37

-140.00

(4)

Bad
Zwischenahn

47.50%

D

34,125.87

1,339.73

(3)

Steinwerder Verwaltungs-UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

MS "Elbwolf" John-Peter Wulff
Schiffahrtsverwaltungs-GmbH

JPW 2700 Schiffahrtsverwaltungs-GmbH
Natacha C Verwaltungs UG (haftungsbeschränkt)
Vectis Harrier C Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

MS "Hermann-S." Schiffahrtsverwaltung GmbH

n/a

*

4,292.36 (4)*
n/a

*

(3)
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MS Margaretha Green Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

19,570.40

1,043.84

(4)

MS Maria Green Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

19,610.05

1,073.16

(4)

MS Marion Green Verwaltung GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

19,609.89

1,071.56

(4)

MS Mastery Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

23,537.57

1,813.72

(3)

MS "Missunde" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

49.00%

D

6,100.68

1,215.66

(3)

MS Motivation Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

22,950.18

1,745.34

(3)

MS PAVIAN Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

21,215.84

896.89

(3)

MS Recognition Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

24,113.65

1,660.47

(3)

MS Recommendation Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

20,413.74

1,035.49

(4)

MS Resolution Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

47.50%

D

51,928.31

6,339.74

(4)

MS Revolution Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

47.00%

D

30,871.06

-244.74

(3)

MS "Sandwig" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Hamburg

49.00%

D

6,036.78

1,256.64

(3)

MS Trustful Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

MS "Voge Dignity" Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

49.00%

D

30,463.75

1,010.69

MS "Warnow Vaquita" Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

MS Werder Bremen Verwaltung GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

MT Hellespont Commander Verwaltungs GmbH
i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

MT Hellespont Crusader Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

Stade

49.00%

D

28,592.73

-1,366.66

Verwaltung MS "Allegoria" GmbH

Hamburg

51.00%

D

23,325.66

Verwaltung MS "HAMMONIA FRANCIA" GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

27,572.54

7,660.64

(4)

Verwaltung MS "JPO DELPHINUS" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Stade

48.00%

D

33,661.00

-1,320.32

(4)

Verwaltung MS "JPO DORADO" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Stade

48.00%

D

29,611.50

-1,320.32

(4)

Verwaltung MS "JPO VELA" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Stade

48.00%

D

32,741.01

-1,320.32

(4)

Verwaltung MS "Renate P" GmbH

Drochtersen

50.00%

D

33,988.29

1,315.74

(3)

Vierte RRS Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Bad
Zwischenahn

50.00%

D

0.00

0.00

(3)

Zweite RRS Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Bad
Zwischenahn

50.00%

D

-1,302.00

0.00

(3)

Bremen

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

Beluga Shipping "QS309" GmbH & Co. KG i.L.

Hamburg

50.00%

D

n/a

n/a

HSC Shipping Protect II GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

< 1.00%

D

-4,712.88

-32,352.04

(3)

HSC Shipping Protect II VV GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

< 1.00%

D

28,481,628.96

1,249,285.39

(3)

Wilmington,
Delaware

51.00%

USA

170,024.22

Hamburg

50.00%

D

3,209.32

Verwaltung Leo Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH

Beluga Shipping "JD12000-14" GmbH & Co. KG i.L.

HCI Townsend USA Fund Managers LLC
MT "Gaschem Ice" Verwaltungs-Unternehmergesellschaft (haftungsbeschränkt)
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Hamburg

50.00%

D

3,120.38

1,533.80

(4)

Jork

50.00%

D

234.85

-1,276.67

(3)

Emden

50.00%

D

4,151.82

1,409.01

(5)

Verwaltung HSC Protect-Fonds GmbH

Hamburg

49.00%

D

21,205.93

-2,379.47

(3)

COMBITRADE GmbH

Hamburg

20.00%

D

204,550.56

-351,968.68

(3)

MS "PAUL RUSS“ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH &
Co KG

Hamburg

100.00%

D

0.00

14,574,291.67 (3)*

Verwaltung MS "Tilly Russ" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

22,792.24

-960.28 (3)*

Verwaltung MS "Louise Russ" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

23,147.78

-952.89 (3)*

Verwaltung MS "CAROLINE RUSS" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,707.73

143.14 (4)*

Verwaltung MS "Elisabeth Russ" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,763.22

198.63 (4)*

Verwaltung MS "PAULINE RUSS" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,982.07

417.48 (4)*

Verwaltung MS "Friedrich Russ" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

20,139.84

-5,424.75 (4)*

Verwaltung MS "Antje Russ" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,615.31

50.72 (4)*

Verwaltung MS "HELENE RUSS" Schiffahrts
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

34,912.03

-2,679.78 (4)*

Ernst Russ Shipbroker GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

15.00%

D

3,365,614.12

2,925,592.36

Seahawk Maritime Tankers Ltd.

Marshall
Islands

100.00%

MHL

n/a

n/a

MT "MARE BALTIC" Tankschiffahrts GmbH & Co.
KG i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

-6,841.39

-196,995.45 (3)*

MS "MARE TRACER" Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG
i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

18,153.05

-48,277.97 (3)*

MS "MARE TRADER" Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG
i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

11,690.10

-75,831.01 (3)*

MS "MARE TRANSPORTER" Schiffahrts GmbH &
Co. KG i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

17,966.85

-188,392.22 (3)*

MS "MARE TRAVELLER" Schiffahrts GmbH & Co.
KG i. L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

29,782.21

-530,376.81 (3)*

King "D" Tankschiffahrts GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

55,328.70

5,118.78

(5)

MS "King Robert" Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

22,157.22

-1,346.00

(5)

King "D" Tankschiffahrts Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

50.00%

D

79,814.98

27,397.82

(5)

MS "CAROLINE RUSS" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft
mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

3.60%

D

-199,410.27

1,853,904.83

(3)

MS "Elisabeth Russ" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH
& Co. KG

Hamburg

6.90%

D

-340,256.34

1,904,191.87

(3)

MS "PAULINE RUSS" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH
& Co. KG

Hamburg

3.60%

D

-34,378.41

1,545,738.40

(3)

MS "Friedrich Russ Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH
& Co. KG

Hamburg

6.10%

D

-1,261,196.22

1,856,471.35

(3)

MT "Gaschem Snow" Verwaltungs-Unternehmergesellschaft (haftungsbeschränkt)
MS "Lappland" Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)
MS Stadt Solingen Verwaltungs UG
(haftungsbeschränkt)

*
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Immobiliengesellschaft Objekte Plaza Potsdam
und Wiesbaden Karlheinz Sternkopf GmbH & Co.
KG

Düsseldorf

6.20%

D

10,501,771.18

1,715,935.92

(3)

SIGNA 05/HGA Luxemburg Objekt Ikaros
Immobilienfonds GmbH & Co. KG

Düsseldorf

< 1.00%

D

46,130,541.38

1,897,205.55

(4)

Assetando Hollandimmobilien Verwaltungs
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

35,859.77

3,165.16

*

KC Zweite Immobilienfonds Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

47,231.96

3,024.52

*

König & Cie. Hollandimmobilien Verwaltung
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

26,978.02

-187.02

*

KC Dritte Immobilienfonds Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

50,271.58

4,017.90

*

Assetando Vierte Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

5,846.20

3,313.50

*

Assetando Geschäftsführungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

31,354.83

6,354.83 (3)*

NOVITAS Immo Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

31,537.18

6,537.18 (3)*

Wohnfonds Düsseldorf Himmelgeist Verwaltungs
GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,714.81

149.78 (3)*

Private Placement Fachhochschule Lüdenscheid
Verwaltungs GmbH

Hamburg

100.00%

D

25,509.75

135.06 (3)*

BRUNUS Bad Klosterlausnitz GmbH

Cologne

100.00%

D

40,028.80

-329.52 (3)*

Brunus 13 GmbH

Cologne

100.00%

D

30,564.51

1,540.46 (3)*

Brunus 15 GmbH

Cologne

100.00%

D

27,172.53

226.96 (3)*

Brunus 19 GmbH

Cologne

100.00%

D

27,196.49

799.86 (3)*

S.B. Immobilienfonds-Verwaltungs GmbH

Pulheim

50.00%

D

29,738.13

3,337.08

Hamburg

50.00%

D

23,487.48

-1,512.52

Mölln

50.00%

D

15,837.97

-11,842.43

Assetando Mühlenau Projektgesellschaft mbH &
Co. KG

Hamburg

50.00%

D

3,001,378.12

-8,621.88

AXA Colonia Immobilien Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co.
Kommanditgesellschaft "Merkens neunzehn"

Cologne

< 1.00%

D

11,780,742.69

3,091,130.21

(3)

Fernando Feeder Holding GmbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-4,764,763.23

-116,026.49

(3)

Fernando Feeder Holding Verwaltungs
gesellschaft mbH

Hamburg

45.00%

D

27,394.92

778.44

(3)

Fernando Feeder Schiffverwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH

Hamburg

45.00%

D

99,834.28

22,252.45

(3)

MS "Chance" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG i.L.

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-4,995,666.93

-295,624.60

(3)

MS "Dance" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-2,768,272.28

-936,853.48

(3)

MS "Solong" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,036,933.88

-320,755.08

(3)

MS "Dream" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,244,096.55

-361,178.78

(3)

MS "Ido" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,518,064.21

-484,898.48

(3)

MS "Meandi" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,794,616.59

-314,160.13

(3)

MS "Mirror" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,703,424.59

-394,129.97

(3)

MS "Music" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,841,132.00

-353,430.60

(3)

Assetando Mühlenau Verwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH
Erschließungsgesellschaft Süd-Holstein mbH
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MS "Trouper" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-191,174.90

-196,174.90

(3)

MS "Visitor" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-746,868.70

-29,099.83

(3)

MS "Winner", Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-3,239,428.52

-1,542,045.82

(3)

MS "Andante" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-1,088,505.16

-379,717.68

(3)

MS "Moveon" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
KG

Hamburg

45.00%

D

-506,253.88

-118,384.73

(3)

HSC Optivita UK I General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,111.00

89.00

*

HSC Optivita UK II General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,111.00

89.00

*

HSC Optivita UK III General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,111.00

89.00

*

HSC Optivita VII UK General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,111.00

89.00

*

HSC Optivita VIII UK General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,107.00

171.00

*

HSC Optivita X UK General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

7,143.00

91.00

*

HSC Optivita XI UK General Partner Limited

Windsor,
Berkshire

100.00%

GB

6,080.00

86.00

*

TEP ONE CAPITAL LIMITED

Cheshire

100.00%

GB

21,848.00

-30,044.00

*

TEP TWO CAPITAL LIMITED

Cheshire

100.00%

GB

44,676.00

23,773.00

*

TEP THREE CAPITAL LIMITED

Cheshire

100.00%

GB

44,738.00

23,762.00

*

GSI Triebwerke Drei Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Cologne

100.00%

D

9,071.51

-2,854.53 (3)*

GSI Triebwerke Vier Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Cologne

100.00%

D

22,333.02

-1,201.30 (3)*

GSI Triebwerke Zwei Verwaltungs GmbH i.L.

Cologne

100.00%

D

5,567.25

2,031.73 (3)*

MS "TILLY RUSS" Schiffahrtsgesellschaft mbH &
Co. KG i.L.

Hamburg

100.00%

D

0.00

13,839,188.30 (3)*

MS "KING BASIL" Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG i.L.

Hamburg

99.00%

D

37,262.32

3,006,234.95 (3)*

MS "KING BRUCE" Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG i.L.

Hamburg

99.00%

D

18,865.33

2,664,297.13 (3)*

Legend: 
(1) Before profit / loss transfer (3) Earnings 2018 (4) Earnings 2017 (5) Earnings 2016 or earlier
* Not consolidated in accordance with Section 296 (2) HGB
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4.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Note:
This is a translation of the German original. Solely the
original text in German language is authoritative.

To Ernst Russ AG, Hamburg
OPINIONS

BASIS FOR THE OPINIONS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Ernst Russ AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year
from January 1 to December 31, 2019 and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies. In addition, we have
audited the group management report of Ernst Russ AG
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31,
2019. In accordance with German legal requirements,
we have not audited the content of those components
of the group management report specified in the “Other
Information”section of our auditor’s report.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of the group management report in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of
the Group Management Report” section of our auditor’s
report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and
professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German
professional responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements
and on the group management report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained
in the audit,
t he accompanying consolidated financial statements
comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law and give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position
of the Group as at December 31, 2019 and of its financial performance for the financial year from January 1,
2019 to December 31, 2019, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, and
t he accompanying group management report as a
whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements, complies with German legal
requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.
Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare
that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to
the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report.

OTHER INFORMATION

Management is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the annual report, with the
exception of the audited consolidated financial statements
and group management report and our auditor’s report.
Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and
on the group management report do not cover the other
information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other information
	is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements, with the group management
report audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
	otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law and that the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in
compliance with German Legally Required Accounting
Principles. In addition, management is responsible for
such internal control as they, in accordance with German
Legally Required Accounting Principles, have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the
responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for
financial reporting based on the going concern basis of
accounting, provided no actual or legal circumstances
conflict therewith.
Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management report that, as a whole,
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and
is, in all material respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal
requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition,
management is responsible for such arrangements and
measures (systems) as they have considered necessary
to enable the preparation of a group management report
that is in accordance with the applicable German legal
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report.
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and of the group
management report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
OF THE GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and whether the group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view
of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements
and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with
the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development,
as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and
on the group management report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group management report.
We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
I dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and
of the group management report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
 btain an understanding of internal control relevant
O
to the audit of the consolidated financial statements
and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management report
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
these systems.
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 valuate the appropriateness of accounting
E
policies used by management and the reasonableness of estimates made by management and related disclosures.
 onclude on the appropriateness of
C
management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements and in the group management
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be
able to continue as a going concern.
	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and financial performance of the
Group in compliance with German Legally
Required Accounting Principles.
	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the
group management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our opinions.
 valuate the consistency of the group
E
management report with the consolidated
financial statements, its conformity with
German law, and the view of the Group’s
position it provides.
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	Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management
in the group management report. On the
basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by management as
a basis for the prospective information, and
evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on
the assumptions used as a basis. There is
a substantial unavoidable risk that future
events will differ materially from the prospective information.
We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Hamburg, 23. April 2020
KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Original German version signed by:
Hartmut Heckert

Sandy Wegner

Wirtschaftsprüfer				Wirtschaftsprüferin
(German Public Auditor)		

(German Public Auditor)
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DISCLAIMER

DISCLAIMER
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

These documents include forward-looking
statements and information about future
developments that are based on the convictions of the Executive Board of Ernst Russ AG
and on assumptions and information currently
available to Ernst Russ AG. Words such as
“expect”, “estimate”, “assume”, “intend”, “plan”,
“should”, “could”, “project” and similar terms
referring to the company are intended to indicate such forward-looking statements, which
are subject to uncertainties.
There are many contributing factors which
may cause the actual results of the ER Group
to be materially different from the predictions
for the future made in such forward-looking
statements.
Ernst Russ AG assumes no responsibility
towards the public to update or correct forward-looking statements. All forward-looking
statements are subject to various risks and
uncertainties, which may mean that the actual
results differ quanti- fiably from expectations.
The forward-look- ing statements reflect the
views at the time at which they were made.

CLARKSON RESEARCH
SERVICES LIMITED

Clarkson Research Services Limited (CRSL)
have not reviewed the context of any of the statistics or information contained in the commentaries and all statistics and information were
obtained by ER from standard CRSL published
sources. Furthermore, CRSL have not carried
out any form of due diligence exercise on the
information, as would be the case with finance
raising documentation such as Initial Public
Offering (IPOs) or Bond Placements. Therefore
reliance on the statistics and information contained within the commentaries will be for the
risk of the party relying on the information and
CRSL does not accept any liability whatsoever
for relying on the statistics or information.
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